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2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Average no. of outstanding equity certificates 20.731.183 20.731.183 20.731.183 20.731.183 20.731.183

Average equity *) (NOK millions) 2.755,3 2.563,9 2.268,1 1.960,6 1.814,5

Average total assets (NOK millions) 34.067,2 33.618,8 30.263,2 28.698,8 26.502,2

1. Return on equity (%) 9,29 16,72 12,46 13,38 8,58
2. Result level I (%) 0,75 1,28 0,93 0,91 0,59
3. Result level II (%) 1,05 1,66 1,34 1,34 0,86
4. Net interest income (%) 1,72 1,81 1,87 1,78 1,66
5. Cost/income ratio (before losses on loans/guarantees) (%) 44,69 34,72 42,04 43,20 55,95

Cost/income ratio, excl. return on financial investments (%) 42,00 43,21 44,55 48,48 55,77
6. Cost-effectiveness of personnel costs (%) 0,49 0,48 0,54 0,57 0,63
7. Cost-effectiveness of other costs (%) 0,31 0,34 0,37 0,39 0,42
8. Cost-effectiveness of total operating costs (%) 0,85 0,88 0,97 1,02 1,09
9. Equity ratio (%) 8,25 7,60 7,91 6,99 6,55

Growth in total assets - last 12 months (%) -1,42 12,35 4,82 4,00 15,16
Growth in gross lending to customers - last 12 months (%) -2,55 11,28 13,80 1,71 13,65

10. Losses in relation to net lending to customers (%) 0,06 0,09 0,07 0,11 0,09

11.
Proportion of provisions for losses in relation to net lending 
to customers (%) 0,44 0,48 0,54 0,65 0,64

12. Deposit coverage ratio (%) 47,04 46,68 48,68 51,81 40,27
Capital adequacy ratio (%) 20,29 18,17 18,41 15,68 15,77
Tier 1 capital ratio (%) 18,29 15,89 16,47 14,85 14,23

13. CET 1 capital ratio (%) 16,29 13,94 13,23 12,76 12,07
No. of full-time equivalents 226 225 233 224 252
Dividend (NOK) 3,30 5,00 3,00 3,00 2,00

14. Earnings per equity certificate after tax (NOK) 4,79 8,57 5,90 5,69 3,46
15. Ownership fraction (%) 38,79 41,44 43,28 44,98 46,04
16. Book equity per equity certificate (NOK) 55,06 54,81 52,29 46,22 42,49

Turnover rate (sold/issued %) 16,02 10,46 21,81 11,69 21,61

Key figures for 2013 have been restated due to the inclusion of accrued interest in interest-bearing balance sheet items.
*) Proposed dividends are not included in the basis for calculating average equity.

Definitions

1. Profit/loss after tax as a % of average equity 
2. Profit/loss after tax as a % of average total assets
3. Profit/loss before losses on loans/guarantees as a % of average total assets
4. Net interest and credit commission income as a % of average total assets
5. Total operating costs as a % of net interest and credit commission income and total other operating income
6. Personnel costs as a % of average total assets
7. Other operating costs as a % of average total assets
8. Total operating costs as a % of average total assets
9. Equity exclusive of dividend as a % of total assets
10. Losses as a % of net lending to customers at the start of the period
11. Loss provisions for lending as a % of gross lending to customers
12. Deposits from customers as a % of net lending to customers
13. Net tier 1 capital less hybrid tier 1 capital in tier 1 capital as a % of the calculation basis (risk-weighted balance sheet)
14. Equity share capital's proportion of the bank's profit/loss after tax per outstanding equity certificate as at 31.12.
15.

16. Equity share capital divided by no. of equity certificates. Year's allocation for dividends is included in the calculation.

Equity certificate holders' proportion of total equity (excl. provisions for year's dividend) in % (Basis as at 
01.01, time-weighted by issue).
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 BOARD OF DIRECTORS' REPORT FOR 2015 
 
At the end of the bank's 173rd year of operation, Sparebanken Øst is 
a very well-capitalised savings bank. The group had very sound tier 1 
capital at the end of the year amounting to NOK 3,192.2 million, 
which corresponds to a capital adequacy ratio of 20.29 per cent. As at 
31.12.15, the CET1 capital ratio was 16.29 per cent and was 
significantly above the bank's set target. Sparebanken Øst has, 
through goal-oriented measures, positioned itself so as to improve its 
competitiveness and increase its freedom of action. The group's 
profit before tax amounted to NOK 339.7 million for 2015. The profit 
after tax amounted to NOK 256.0 million, which corresponds to a 
return on equity of 9.29 per cent. The result is considered to be 
satisfactory in light of the bank's capital adequacy, balance sheet 
composition and the development of the financial markets. Given the 
bank's very sound capital situation and satisfactory result, a decision 
has been made to propose a cash dividend of NOK 3.30 per equity 
certificate and a social dividend from the social capital of NOK 34.2 
million. The dividends are in line with the adopted dividend policy.  
  
 
BUSINESS IN 2015 
 
The group reported a profit before tax of NOK 339.7 million for 2015, compared with NOK 533.1 
million for 2014. The proceeds from the sale of shares in Nets Holding AS had a considerable impact 
on the profit in 2014. The result for 2015 was significantly affected by negative value changes in the 
bank's liquidity portfolio due to general market developments in securities, as well as the reduced 
net interest income and credit commission income due to significantly increased competition. The 
Sparebanken Øst group consists of the parent bank and four wholly owned subsidiaries. AS 
Financiering, established in 1930, is a central market actor within used car financing. Sparebanken 
Øst Eiendom AS and its subsidiaries own, manage and develop properties. Sparebanken Øst 
Boligkreditt AS securitises mortgages for the bank and thereby achieves lower funding costs for the 
group. Øst Prosjekt AS's main object is to take over projects to hedge and realise exposed positions in 
the parent bank. In 2015, the bank's subsidiaries have been important contributors to the group's 
overall earnings.  
 
The group's return on equity was 9.29 per cent in 2015 and is regarded as satisfactory in light of the 
significantly increased equity and the fact that the bank had no significant non-recurring gains in 
2015. Cost control in the bank remains very good.     
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Total assets decreased by NOK 497.0 million in 2015 and amounted to NOK 34,509.1 million at the 
end of 2015. Net lending to customers increased by 2.5 per cent as a result of the bank's strategic 
choices.  
 
The Sparebanken Øst group carried out no research or development activities in 2015. 
 
The group is very well-capitalised and had a CET1 capital ratio of 16.29 per cent at the end of 2015, 
based on the standard method. The corresponding figure for 2014 was 13.94 per cent.  
 
In a year of significant fluctuations and greater uncertainty, credit risk, expressed by our risk 
classification, developed positively. The bank had a higher proportion of commitments in the best 
risk class at the end of 2015 than at the end of 2014. An increasing proportion of retail customers is 
helping to reduce concentration risk further. Non-performing and impaired loans have been 
significantly reduced. Compliance controls carried out by the internal auditor and the compliance and 
control department show a consistently satisfactory process for the assessment of risks, satisfactory 
formulation of procedures and routines, and that the compliance with procedures and routines is 
good. No incidents resulting in a risk of significant losses were registered in 2015.  
 
The board is proposing a dividend of NOK 3.30 per equity certificate. Earnings per equity certificate 
after tax for the group were NOK 4.79. Book equity per certificate as at 31.12.15 was NOK 55.06, 
inclusive of the proposed dividend. The proposed dividend for equity certificate holders is within the 
adopted and communicated dividend policy and amounts to 68.9 per cent of the equity certificate 
holders' share of the group's profit for the year. The proposed social dividend for worthwhile public 
causes amounts to NOK 34.2 million.  
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The board and executive management team would like to thank the group's employees for their 
great efforts in 2015.  
 
STRATEGY AND GOALS 
  
Vision 
Sparebanken Øst wants to be a leading savings bank in Eastern Norway.  
 
Business concept 
Sparebanken Øst's mission is to be a non-affiliated, independent and locally managed provider of 
financial services, to enable people in general, along with small and medium-sized enterprises, to 
exploit their financial resources in the best possible manner. 
 
Savings bank identity 
Sparebanken Øst wants to be a socially-oriented bank with high ethical standards.  
We want to be a contributor to value creation and sustainable development – especially in the 
municipalities of Øvre Eiker, Nedre Eiker and Drammen.  
We want to be development-oriented while remaining rooted in the local community.  
We want to be a solid, long-term and credible savings bank.  
 
Core values 
Sparebanken Øst want to live up to the following three core values: 

predictable 
down-to-earth 
forward-leaning 

 
Market 
The bank's head office is in Drammen and its business address is in Hokksund in the municipality of 
Øvre Eiker.  
175,000 people live in our local market; 67,000 of them in Drammen alone. Business development in 
the municipalities is good and the business sector is doing well. Strong population growth and an 
increase in commercial enterprises are expected in the region. The bank has a total catchment area 
of almost 2 million people, around 40 per cent of Norway's population, within just an hour's travel 
time from Drammen. Sparebanken Øst wants to be a small actor within this area, while being a major 
actor in Nedre Buskerud. Sparebanken Øst defines the central area of Eastern Norway as its main 
market, although it regards the entire country as a potential market for retail customers via its online 
distribution channels.  
 
Core activities 
Sparebanken Øst wants to satisfy its customers' needs for ordinary financial products. Our main 
products are savings products, credit products and payment products.  
 
Organisational and employee development 
Sparebanken Øst wants to be a market-oriented organisation that offers interesting challenges to 
responsible and qualified employees. We want to develop our employees so that they may be in a 
position to meet future skills and reorganisation requirements, and we want to be an attractive 
employer by offering a good working environment and competitive terms.  
 
The bank is affiliated with the authorisation scheme for financial advisers (AFR) and at the end of the 
year had 51 authorised financial advisers. The bank's internal academy facilitates the necessary skills 
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training in line with developments in our framework conditions and the sector in general. 
 
 
 
 
 
Market and brand strategy 
Sparebanken Øst serves the markets via a combination of the bank's branches, online solutions and 
external intermediaries. Sparebanken Øst has a tripartite and segmented market model based on a 
'house of brands' brand strategy. The model enables the bank to serve all types of customers, both 
those who wish to interact with the bank face-to-face and those who wish to perform most of their 
banking services themselves. The model also enables us to serve both current and future bank 
customers. The market model is continuously being developed so that we can serve all of our 
customers in the best possible manner. 
 
DinBANK.no was launched in September 2006. The concept is now established as a very simple, 
efficient and straightforward banking alternative for self-service customers. DinBANK.no mainly 
offers loans to customers against property mortgages up to a loan-to-value ratio of 75 per cent. Its 
customers come from all over Norway, although the majority come from the counties of Oslo, 
Akershus and Buskerud. 
 
Topprente.no was established in March 2011 and is an efficient self-service concept that offers highly 
competitive interest rates on savings. Topprente.no has customers come from all over Norway, 
although the majority come from the counties of Oslo, Akershus and Buskerud.  
 
Boligkreditt.no was established by Sparebanken Øst Boligkreditt AS in December 2012 and is a self-
service concept offering mortgages with security in freehold housing.   
Boligkreditt.no offers competitive terms for mortgages for more than NOK 2 million up to 75 per cent 
of the property's market value.  
 
Sparebanken Øst also monitors the trends within environmental and sustainable development and 
adapts its activities to developments in this area. In 2014, we therefore established two new 
products: green mortgages and green car loans. 
 
 
Overall financial objectives 
Sparebanken Øst wants to be a profitable bank run according to business principles. The board has 
set three overall financial objectives for the organisation:  
 

The group's target for liquidity is for non-liquid assets must be financed by long-term 
financing of 105 per cent over time.  
The group's CET1 capital ratio target has been set at 14.5 per cent from and including 1 July 
2016.  
The group's target for its return on equity has been set at 10 per cent over time.  

 
The board believes that expanding the bank can best be achieved through organic growth, and 
considers sustained growth important in ensuring that the bank can achieve its objectives, and retain 
its independence.  
All growth must comply with the conditions established by the bank's three central financial 
objectives. 
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COMMENTS ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, International Financial 
Reporting Standards, approved by the EU. 
 
The board hereby confirms that the conditions for the presentation of the financial statements under 
the going concern assumption are present. 
STATEMENT OF INCOME  
The group reported a profit before tax of NOK 339.7 million for 2015, compared with NOK 533.1 
million for 2014. The sale of shares in Nets Holding AS had a considerable impact on the profit in 
2014. This gain amounted to NOK 134.7 million. Gains from the sale of properties had a positive non-
recurring effect of NOK 34.6 million in 2015. The net profit for the year was adversely affected by a 
substantial negative change in the value of the bank's liquidity portfolio and reduced net interest 
income.  
 
As a percentage of average total assets, profit before tax amounted to 1.00 per cent compared with  
1.59 per cent in 2014.  
 
The profit after tax was NOK 256.0 million, compared with NOK 428.7 million for 2014. This 
represents a return on equity after tax for 2015 of 9.29 per cent, compared with 16.72 per cent for 
2014.  
 
The result after tax for the parent bank was a profit of NOK 182.1 million in 2015, compared to NOK 
360.6 million in 2014. In 2015, the parent bank received dividends from subsidiaries amounting to 
NOK 90.0 million. In 2014, the parent bank received dividends from subsidiaries amounting to NOK 
60.0 million. Dividends are eliminated at the group level. 
 
Net interest income 
Net interest income and credit commission income amounted to NOK 586.7 million for 2015, a 
decrease of NOK 20.2 million compared with 2014. As a percentage of average total assets, net 
interest income and credit commission income amounted to 1.72 per cent in 2015, compared with 
1.81 per cent in 2014.  
 
A levy of NOK 11.3 million was charged in 2015 for the Norwegian Banks Guarantee Fund, compared 
to NOK 10.4 million in 2014.   
 
Operating income 
The dividends received from equity instruments amounted to NOK 1.3 million compared with NOK 
7.3 million in 2014. This reduction was due to the loss of dividends from Nets Holding AS. 
 
Commission income and income from banking services amounted to NOK 79.8 million, which is a 
decrease of NOK 1.8 million compared with the previous year. Commission income is derived from 
traditional banking services.     
 
Commission costs and costs from banking services amounted to NOK 39.2 million, a decrease of NOK 
4.5 million from 2014. 
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Net value changes and gains/losses on financial assets resulted in a negative value change of NOK 
42.7 million in 2015. By comparison, net value changes and gains/losses on financial assets provided 
recognised income of NOK 160.2 million in 2014. Last year, the profit from the sale of shares in Nets 
Holding AS amounted to NOK 134.7 million and the profit from the selldown in Frende Holding AS 
amounted to NOK 11.7 million. The value change in the guarantee to Eksportfinans ASA involved 
recognition of NOK 5.1 million in costs in 2015, compared with recognition of NOK 10.2 million in 
income in 2014. Besides this, the reason for the decrease lies in the general widening of margins that 
occurred in relation to bonds in the liquidity portfolio.  
 
Other operating income amounted to NOK 61.0 million, an increase of NOK 20.5 million compared to 
2014. The increase primarily relates to profit from the sale of properties totalling NOK 34.6 million. 
These sales will result in reduced rental income. 
 
 
 
 
Operating costs 
Total operating costs amounted to NOK 289.1 million, which corresponds to 0.85 per cent of the 
average total assets. By comparison, total operating costs amounted to NOK 296.1 million in 2014, 
equivalent to 0.88 per cent of the average total assets.  
 
Payroll and general administration costs amounted to NOK 218.5 million in 2015, compared with 
NOK 217.5 million in 2014. The number of active full-time equivalents in the group at the end of 2015 
was 226, compared to 225 at the end of 2014. The number of active full-time equivalents in the 
parent bank at the end of 2015 was 196, compared to 195 at the end of 2014.   
 
Depreciation and amortisation amounted to NOK 17.9 million in 2015, compared to NOK 19.8 million 
in 2014.  
 
Other operating costs amounted to NOK 52.7 million in 2015, compared to NOK 58.8 million in 2014.  
 
Losses on loans and guarantees  
The group's recorded losses on loans and guarantees amounted to NOK 18.1 million in 2015, 
compared to NOK 23.6 million in 2014.  
 
Individual write-downs on loans and guarantees to customers amounted to NOK 81.0 million at the 
end of 2015, a reduction of NOK 13.3 million since the beginning of the year. The reduction was due 
to the recognition of earlier write-downs.  
 
Collective write-downs on loans to customers amounted to NOK 43.4 million at the end of  
2015, and were unchanged from the beginning of the year. 
 
Gross non-performing and impaired commitments amounted to NOK 242.9 million at the end of 
2015, compared to NOK 423.8 million at the end of 2014. Net defaults and non-performing 
commitments amounted to NOK 161.9 million, having decreased by NOK 167.6 million compared to 
the end of 2014. The decline in non-performing and impaired commitments is a result of the 
measures implemented to reduce risk in the loan portfolio. 
 
Allocation of the profit for the year 
The board proposes that the profit for the year of the parent bank be allocated as shown below: The 
proposed dividend is NOK 3.30 per equity certificate and the provision for the social dividend totals 
NOK 34.2 million. The proposed dividend for equity certificate holders and the social capital amount 
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to 40.08 per cent of the group's profit. Calculated on the basis of the profit in the parent bank, the 
total dividend amounts to 56.34 per cent. For information about the rules for dividends please see 
section 10-6 of the Financial Activities Act, especially the third and fourth paragraph.  

(Figures in NOK millions)  2015 
Equity certificate dividend 68.4 
Social dividend 34.2 
Transferred to the 
Equalisation Fund 

2.2 

Transferred to primary 
capital 

77.3 

Profit for the year 182.1 
   
The Equalisation Fund (exclusive of dividends) currently amounts to NOK 272.8 million, which is 
equivalent to NOK 13.16 per equity certificate. 
 
 
 
 
BALANCE SHEET  
Total assets decreased by NOK 497.0 million during the year and amounted to NOK 34,509.1 million 
at the end of 2015.  
 
Cash and receivables at central banks decreased by NOK 103.5 million during the year and amounted 
to NOK 378.0 million as at 31.12.15.  
 
Net loans to financial institutions increased by NOK 0.6 million during the year and amounted to NOK 
8.1 million as at 31.12.15. Lending to financial institutions in Norway involves interbank loans only.   
 
Net loans to customers amounted to NOK 27,975.8 million, which represents a decrease of NOK 
722.0 million in the last 12 months, equivalent to 2.5 per cent. Net lending to retail customers 
decreased by 2.6 per cent, while net lending to corporate customers decreased by 2.0 per cent. 
 
Gross lending to retail customers accounted for 85.6 per cent of total lending to customers, which is 
the same proportion as at the end of 2014. 
 
Holdings of certificates and bonds increased by NOK 650.4 million from the beginning of the year and 
amounted to NOK 4,760.2 million at the end of 2015. These holdings consist exclusively of the 
liquidity portfolio and amount to NOK 4,737.3 million in nominal terms.  
 
The bank's shares in Frende Holding AS and Eksportfinans ASA are classified as available for sale. The 
shares in Frende Holding AS were valued at NOK 210.0 million at the end of 2015. The increase from 
2014 reflects a proportion of the value creation in the company that falls to Sparebanken Øst.   
The holding of shares in Eksportfinans ASA at the end of 2015 was valued at NOK 200.0 million. The 
reduction from 2014 reflects the company's result as at the end of the third quarter of 2015.   
 
In November last year, Via Inc. (USA) announced an agreement to purchase all of the shares in Visa 
Europe Ltd. Sparebanken Øst has an indirect ownership interest in Visa Europe Ltd through its 
membership of Visa Norway. The bank's estimate is based on the updated valuation of the 
ownership interests in Visa Europe Ltd. at the end of the year. The value of the stake in Visa Norway 
has been set at NOK 17.4 million. The ownership interest is classified as available for sale and the 
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value change was recognised in other comprehensive income (equity). The agreement depends on 
the approval of a number of competition authorities and the increase in value in other 
comprehensive income at the time of realisation will be recognised as a gain in the ordinary 
statement of income.  

Deposits from customers amounted to NOK 13,159.3 million as at 31.12.15, having decreased by 
NOK 237.7 million over the past 12 months, equivalent to 1.8 per cent. The deposit-to-loan ratio at 
the end of 2015 was 47.04 per cent, compared to 46.68 per cent at the end of 2014.  
 
The deposit-to-loan ratio in the parent bank at the end of 2015 was 74.39 per cent, compared to 
70.68 per cent at the end of 2014.  
 
Securities issued amounted to NOK 17,205.3 million, which is a decrease of NOK 344.6 million since 
the beginning of the year.  
 
Other long-term loan agreements amounted to NOK 150.3 million at the end of 2015, which 
represents a reduction of NOK 60.2 million since the beginning of the year.  
 
Short-term borrowing (defined as borrowing with a remaining term to maturity of less than 1 year) 
amounted to NOK 2,725.0 million as at 31.12.15. 
 
SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Sparebanken Øst Boligkreditt AS is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sparebanken Øst. The company 
was established on 14.04.09 with the object of granting or acquiring home mortgage loans, property 
mortgage loans, loans secured by liens on other registered assets or public loans, and of financing 
lending activities, mainly by issuing covered bonds. At the end of 2015, the loan-to-value ratio (LTV) 
of the security portfolio was 45.8 per cent. For comparison, the equivalent figure was 46.3 per cent 
at the end of 2014. 
 
At the end of 2015, the company's total assets amounted to NOK 9,254.9 million and mainly 
consisted of first priority mortgages on homes, which are financed via covered bonds and drawing 
rights on the parent company. The company's paid-up equity is NOK 650.0 million, of which NOK 
319.8 million is share capital and NOK 330.2 million makes up the share premium account. Its result 
after tax was a profit of NOK 80.5 million in 2015, compared to NOK 87.6 million in 2014. The 
company has no employees, but procures services from Sparebanken Øst. Covered bonds issued by 
Sparebanken Øst Boligkreditt AS have been rated AAA by Moody's since the first quarter of 2011. 
 
AS Financiering is a wholly owned financing subsidiary of Sparebanken Øst. Its main product is 
debenture financing for used cars. The company achieved a profit after tax of NOK 39.7 million, 
compared to NOK 32.5 million in 2014. Total assets amounted to NOK 1,692.6 million. At the end of 
2015 the company had 25 employees. 
 
Sparebanken Øst Eiendom AS's main object is standard property operations, including purchase, 
sale, rental and development of real estate, as well as the purchase and sale of fixtures and fittings 
within various business areas. Operating income amounted to NOK 63.4 million in 2015 compared to 
NOK 44.0 million in 2014. This increase was due to profit from sales of real estate in 2015. The result 
after tax was a profit of NOK 39.2 million in 2015, compared to a profit of NOK 7.0 million in 2014. 
The company has six employees. Its share capital amounts to NOK 35.1 million. 
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Øst Prosjekt AS's main object is to take over projects and to undertake industrial and commercial 
activities to hedge and realise exposed positions in the parent bank. The company has no employees 
and its share capital amounts to NOK 12.0 million. The result after tax was a profit of NOK 0.7 million 
in 2015, compared to a loss of NOK 0.1 million in 2014.  
 
 
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
The bank's overall strategy states that Sparebanken Øst wants to be community-oriented and have 
high ethical standards. This means that the bank has a responsibility within the community beyond 
creating commercial profits. It means that high ethical standards must be set, not only for the bank's 
employees, but also with regard to customers, suppliers and other stakeholders. The bank has 
stipulated ethical guidelines for employees and elected representatives of the bank and its 
subsidiaries. These rules provide instructions for correct conduct with regard to customers, the 
authorities, suppliers, competitors and colleagues. The rules are easily accessible on the bank's 
intranet pages and are subject to annual review with the employees. 
 
Human rights 
Basic human rights form the basis for and are governed by Norwegian legislation. Among other 
things, these include prohibiting discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation, gender identity 
and gender expression, prohibiting discrimination due to ethnicity, religion and beliefs, and 
prohibiting discrimination due to physical disability. The bank has implemented no special measures 
in this area beyond ensuring general compliance with the legislation and regulations. 
 
Employee rights and social conditions 
The employee rights and social conditions of the bank's employees are ensured through central and 
local agreements with employee organisations, which are subject to annual negotiations, as well as 
other legislation and regulations.  
 
Our purchasing routines state that the bank, through its influence as a customer, must influence our 
suppliers to provide us with ethically responsible products and services. Follow-up measures include 
ongoing control of the pay and working conditions offered to subcontractors. 
 
A system has been put in place whereby the bank's suppliers of products and services must confirm 
via a self-declaration form that they do not contribute to any breaches of human and employee 
rights, adverse environmental impacts or corruption. 
 
The external environment 
The bank utilises district heating where possible and electrical heating in the bank's buildings where 
it is not. This means that the bank's buildings cause very limited pollution in the external 
environment.  The bank is currently not considering any further measures in this area. The bank's 
input factors and products have a limited impact on the external environment.  
 
Combating corruption 
The ethical rules include due diligence requirements with regard to suspicious transactions by 
customers. Through our measures against money laundering and the financing of terrorism, we 
follow up all suspicious transactions, including possible corruption payments. Suspicious transactions 
are reported to the Norwegian National Authority for Investigation and Prosecution of Economic and 
Environmental Crime (ØKOKRIM). The money laundering regulations include strict rules for the 
identification and verification of a customer's identity. Comprehensive internal checks have been 
established to ensure compliance with the money laundering regulations. The bank practises a zero 
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tolerance policy with respect to breaches of the money laundering regulations. The scope of the 
internal checks will be maintained at a high level going forward. 
 
Since the bank solely operates nationally and with customers that generally do the same, these are 
regarded as satisfactory measures with regard to the follow-up of human rights, employee rights and 
social conditions, and measures to prevent corruption. 
 
 
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
 
In accordance with section 2-9 of the Financial Activities Act, from 01.01.16 section 13-5 (1) of the 
Financial Institutions Act, the bank must be organised and operated in a responsible manner. This 
involves having a clear organisational structure, clear division of responsibilities, clear and 
appropriate management and control systems, and appropriate guidelines and routines for 
identifying, managing, monitoring and reporting risks to which the bank is or may be exposed. 
 
The bank's board and executive management team bear ultimate responsibility for risk management 
and internal control. The board adopts the overall risk strategy and approves principles for 
monitoring, control, and risk thresholds. The executive management team regularly reports to the 
board on all significant risks, including the actual level of risk compared to established limits. An 
annual report on internal control, including confirmation that internal control has been carried out, is 
also produced together with an overall annual risk assessment. 
 
Risk management must support the bank's development and achievement of objectives, and must 
ensure financial stability and responsible business operations. This must be achieved via a risk profile 
that must be characterised by a strong risk culture and a high awareness of risk management. Risk 
tolerance is quantified within the individual risk areas. The bank must have sufficient capital based on 
the selected risk profile. The process for risk management and internal control within the bank is 
described in more detail in the 'Risk management and internal control' section of the 'Corporate 
Governance of Sparebanken Øst' section in this annual report. 
 
 
RISK AND CAPITAL SITUATION 
 
Credit risk  
Sparebanken Øst has prepared a credit strategy that deals with various types of credit risk related to 
loans, credits and guarantees granted to customers in the retail and business markets, as well as 
counterparty risk for securities. 
 
The credit strategy is intended to help ensure that the bank's activities in the credit area are in line 
with the framework conditions and guidelines in the bank's overall business concept and strategic 
plans, including ensuring that the activities are prudent in relation to the bank's capacity and 
willingness to bear risk. The strategy is intended to ensure that the bank's management of credit risk 
complies with the requirements stipulated by laws, regulations, directives from the authorities, and 
other regulatory conditions. This in turn is intended to ensure that the quality and composition of the 
established credit portfolio contributes to profitability in both the short and the long term.  
 
The bank's credit assessment principles are defined in the retail and business markets' credit 
manuals, as well as in the bank's instructions manual.  
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Within the retail and business markets, the capacity and willingness to pay are key aspects of credit 
assessment. The risk associated with loan commitments is measured and followed up by risk 
classifying customers. Risk classification has been established as an integral element of the credit 
process when arranging and renewing commitments.  
 
Credit risk trends are continuously monitored through quarterly reports to the management and the 
bank's board. 
 
The bank's geographical catchment area offers both the retail and business departments a large 
market area with flexibility in terms of customers and markets. In order to ensure the quality of the 
credit assessments in a branch-based organisational structure, all authorisations to grant credit in the 
retail market have been established in a central credit department. In the business market, local 
authorisations in the line are only valid up to a certain low level. All cases that exceed the established 
line authorisations are processed by a central credit department. The bank's loan portfolio to retail 
customers and businesses is primarily spread across the central Eastern Norway area. The local 
market, defined as the municipalities of Øvre Eiker, Nedre Eiker and Drammen, accounts for around 
32 per cent of the group's loans portfolio, while the portfolio encompassing the surrounding 
areas/counties in which the bank has branches accounts for around 60 per cent. The portfolio 
otherwise has a broad spread, and predominantly relates to the bank's online banking concepts. A 
small proportion of lending to business customers contributes to a low sector concentration risk. The 
lending activities in the business market are not deemed to be particularly exposed to individual 
companies (cornerstone industries) or one-sided economic development in the region. The bank has 
almost no direct exposure to the oil or oil services industries. Exposure to property and property 
development has over time accounted for a relatively large share of the business portfolio, but 
measured as a share of the group's total lending portfolio this exposure accounts for a limited share 
of the bank's total lending portfolio. In 2015, the bank experienced strong competition in the long-
term financing of commercial property and development projects (housing and commercial 
properties).  
 
Loans and credit facilities extended to the retail market primarily concern commitments against 
mortgages on real estate within appropriate loan-to-value ratios. The bank's exposure to loans/credit 
without associated security is low. 
 
Investments in interest-bearing securities for liquidity purposes are linked to the financial strategy 
adopted by the board. The adopted strategy specifies risk tolerance, allocation of asset classes, 
frameworks and mandates. In addition, a significant element of the portfolio must be suitable for use 
as collateral for a borrowing facility at Norges Bank. When investing funds in certificates and bonds, 
risk is assessed on the basis of the liquidity of the securities, the issuer's rating and other 
counterparty-specific factors. Interest-bearing securities are generally booked at market value so 
that changes in risk are continuously reflected in the financial statements. Disregarding unrealised 
value changes, there have been no credit losses on the securities portfolio in 2015. 
 
Market risk 
Interest risk is kept within fixed limits and is limited since assets and liabilities are subject to variable 
rates or have been changed to variable rate terms. The credit spread risk, or the risk of margin 
changes on fixed-income securities, is managed such that the loss upon a change in the credit spread 
does not exceed a fixed level. Currency risk is reduced by entering into futures or basis swaps and 
kept within set limits. Exposure to equity instruments beyond the bank's subsidiaries and strategic 
investments is limited. 
 
Liquidity risk 
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The bank has a conservative attitude towards liquidity risk in which a long-term, proactive view in 
relation to future maturity is a fundamental factor. The bank has limits that ensure compliance with 
the authorities' requirements concerning the liquidity buffer (LCR) and long-term funding (Liquidity 
Indicator 1). The bank's liquidity prognosis as at the end of 2015 shows adequate liquidity for a 
period of more than 12 months of operations. Deposits are a key source of funding for banks. 
Following the financial crisis, the competition for deposits has intensified. Adjustments to the range 
of products available to our customers have led to an increased inflow of deposits. Topprente.no has 
made a particular contribution to increasing the bank's deposit cover, which has been stable in 2015. 
 
Sparebanken Øst Boligkreditt AS is an integrated element of the group's financing structure and 
provides opportunities to issue covered bonds. This further strengthens the group's funding 
situation. 
 
The Norwegian bond market is the most important funding source for the group. The market for 
covered bonds has become a central part of the Norwegian securities market. Covered bonds 
provide security to investors in the form of preferential rights to low-risk mortgages. The market is 
attractive for Norwegian institutional investors because the supply of Norwegian government debt is 
low, but foreign players also invest in such bonds. Through the issuance of covered bonds, the group 
secures access to external capital, often with a somewhat longer maturity than senior unsecured 
bonds. There is therefore a focus on facilitating the issuing of covered bonds.  
 
Operational risk 
The management and control of operational risk is ensured through annual reviews of key 
procedures and an established internal control process with semi-annual confirmation from 
managers that such internal control has been carried out. Registered incidents, follow-up points after 
internal audit projects have been carried out, and compliance checks, as well as assessed risk in 
relation to set risk limits and targets, are reported to the board each quarter. The group has not 
registered significant losses due to the failure of internal processes, systems, human error or 
unforeseen events in 2015.  
 
Assessment of overall risk and capital requirements 
The bank's board assesses the need for equity based on an overall risk assessment through ICAAP. 
The assessments are carried out at a company and a group level and are forward looking. The group's 
target for primary capital is set at a level that enables growth and plans for growth in lending and 
other assets. Otherwise, there is a heavy focus on maintaining the prudent management of 
commercial operations so that the group can achieve good results and satisfactory returns on 
invested capital over time. This ensures that the bank remains attractive to investors and helps to 
ensure the group access to capital when required to strengthen its equity. The bank currently has no 
plans concerning new equity issues. 
 
Net primary capital amounted to NOK 3,541.7 million at the end of 2015, of which the group's tier 1 
capital amounted to NOK 3,192.2 million.  With a calculation basis of NOK 17,452.6 million, this 
corresponds to a capital adequacy ratio of 20.29 per cent, of which 18.29 per cent constitutes the tier 
1 capital ratio. The CET1 ratio amounts to 16.29 per cent. The bank uses the standardised approach 
when calculating minimum requirements for subordinated capital for credit risk.  
 
 
RATING 
 
On 11.05.15, Sparebanken Øst's rating was upgraded from Baa1 to A3 (stable). This was a result of 
Moody's Investor Service announcing rating changes as a result of new rating methods for banks.   
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MACROECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS 
 
Global growth in 2015 was again characterised by major differences. The US saw increased growth 
and improvements in the labour market driven by consumer spending and in December its base rate 
was raised above zero for the first time in 7 years. The US dollar strengthened significantly against 
the Norwegian kroner and the euro. The eurozone saw stable, low growth, low investments and very 
low price inflation. The ECB is continuing to supply massive amounts of liquidity in order to stimulate 
growth and prevent deflation. China and the other growth economies remain the most important 
contributors to growth, albeit at a slower pace of investment. Close attention is being paid to China, 
which in 2015 experienced major challenges with a collapse in share prices, high credit growth in 
industry, and over-investment in the housing market.  Russia is in recession after the drop in oil 
prices and imposition of sanctions. 
 
The Norwegian mainland economy saw GDP growth of around 1.3 per cent in 2015, which is 
significantly lower than in previous years where we saw high growth driven by record high oil 
investment. The imbalance between production and demand in the oil market has resulted in the oil 
price falling by 75 per cent, in terms of dollars, since July 2014 when the fall in oil prices started. In 
2014, the oil sector accounted for one fifth of GDP, half of exports and one third of total investment 
and the state's income. The fall in prices is therefore having a significant impact on the Norwegian 
economy. The level of activity on both the Norwegian continental shelf and in the supply industry is 
being affected and the value of the Norwegian kroner has been significantly weakened, both because 
of the fall in oil prices and the lower base rate. The weaker Norwegian kroner and lower oil price 
abroad could result in increased activity for traditional export industries.  
 
Inflation is also affected by the Norwegian kroner exchange rate and has increased to around Norges 
Bank's target. Lower wages growth than has been seen in decades, a continued high level of saving, 
and lower household consumer spending are expected. Norges Bank says that is it now seeing the 
effects of the fall in oil prices being propagated to regions and industries other than those that are 
directly related to oil. Unemployment increased significantly in 2015 and is expected to climb further 
in 2016. Although the unemployment rate at the start of the year was low in Eastern Norway, we 
could see secondary effects in services linked to the oil sector and these could in turn affect the rest 
of the economy. 
Housing prices, which rose strongly in 2014, stabilised somewhat in the second half of 2015. The 
yearly rise was 5 per cent on a national basis, but there were large regional differences. The yearly 
rise was 9.5 per cent in Oslo and 7.4 per cent in Drammen, while Stavanger saw a fall of no less than 
5.3 per cent. Household borrowing grew by 6.2 per cent in 2015, on a par with the year before. The 
growth in business sector borrowing amounted to 3.2 per cent, a slight reduction. Competition in the 
credit market appeared to lessen somewhat in the last half of 2015, with stable margins in the home 
mortgage market the result. A slight widening of margins has been seen in the business market lately 
because of the increased risk. Interest rates are expected to remain low for a long time and there is a 
clear expectation that the base rate will be lowered further by Norges Bank in 2016.  
 
 
EMPLOYEES, MANAGERS AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
At the end of 2015 the group had 237 employees, corresponding to 226 full-time equivalents. The 
number of full-time equivalents in the parent bank was 196 as at 31.12.15. The average age of 
employees in the parent bank was 48. The proportion of female employees was 64 per cent. The 
percentage of women in management positions increased somewhat in 2015 compared to 2014 and 
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amounted to 36 per cent at the end of the year. The average age of employees in management 
positions was 46.21. The bank believes it is positive that it can recruit people to management 
positions internally. All employees in the bank are offered the same opportunities in terms of 
advancement and personal and professional development. The bank's overall strategy includes 
organisational and employee development targets and stipulates that it must be sought to achieve 
equal opportunities in every area of the bank. Equal opportunities are protected by central and local 
agreements with employee organisations, as well as other legislation and regulations. A special 
function has been established as an equal opportunities contact in the bank under the auspices of 
the employee organisations. Pål Strand is the company's CEO. He has extensive experience from 
various professional and management roles within the bank and has been a member of the bank's 
executive management team since 2003. In 2015, the executive management team consisted of the 
following seven people:  
 
Pål Strand, born 1965 
CEO 
Bank employee since 1984 

Kjell Engen, born 1969 
Deputy CEO/CFO 
Bank employee since 2003 

 
Per Øyvind Mørk, born 1965 
Director - Communications and Marketing 
Bank employee since 2011 

 
Jan-Roger Vrabel, born 1971 
Director - Retail and Business Markets 
Bank employee since 2011 

  
Lars-Runar Groven, born 1966 
Director - Credit 
Bank employee since 1992 
 
 

Arnljot Lien, born 1965 
Director - IT and Business Support 
Bank employee since 2001 
 

Of the bank's eight elected board members, four are women. The chair of the board is a woman. The 
following sat on the board of directors in 2015: Jorund Rønning Indrelid (chair), Knut Smedsrud 
(deputy chair), Morten A. Yttreeide, Elly Therese Thoresen, Sverre Nedberg, Hanne Margrete Lenes 
Solem, Øivind Andersson, Inger Helen Pettersen (employee representative), and Sissel Album Fjeld 
(deputy employee representative).  
 
 
Jorund Rønning Indrelid, born 1959 
Managing director 
Board member since 2001 
Deputy chair from 2003, chair from 2009. 
Previously a deputy member of the board and 
control committee. 
 

Knut Smedsrud, born 1960 
Director 
Board member since 2009 
Deputy chair of the board since 2009. 
Previously a deputy member of the board. 
 

Elly Therese Thoresen, born 1957 
Project Manager 
Board member since 2012 
Previously a member of the board of trustees. 

Sverre Nedberg, born 1956 
Master of Business and Economics 
Board member since 2006 
Previously a member of the board of trustees. 
 

Morten Andre Yttreeide, born 1967 
Managing director 
Board member since 2012 
Previously a deputy member of the board. 
 

Hanne Margrete Lenes Solem, born 1966 
Group Controller 
Board member since 2010 
Previously a deputy member of the board. 

Øivind Andersson, born 1956 
State Authorised Accountant 

Inger Helen Pettersen, born 1953 
Main employee representative 
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Board member since 2015 
Previously a deputy member of the board of 
trustees and chair of the bank's control 
committee. 

Employee representative on the board since 
2013. 
Previously a deputy member of the board and 
board member from 1999-2011. 
 

 
Board members' attendance at board meetings in 2015: 
Jorund Rønning Indrelid                              12 of 14 meetings 
Knut Smedsrud                                              11              “ 
Sverre Nedberg                                             14               “ 
Elly Therese Thoresen                                  14               “ 
Hanne Margrete Lenes Solem                    13                “ 
Morten André Yttreeide                              14                “ 
Roar Norheim Larsen                                     4     of  4 meeting (left the board on 26.03.15)  
Øivind Andersson       7    of 10 meetings (joined the board on 26.03.15)           
Employee representative 
Inger Helen Pettersen                                  13 of 14 meetings 
Deputy employee representative 
Sissel Album Fjeld                                         12 of 14 meetings 
 
 
HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT 
 
The bank ensures that statutory health, safety and environment (HSE) requirements are 
implemented in a systematic manner, including via established procedures and a close cooperation 
with the occupational health service. 
 
Follow-up care in connection with robberies is included in the bank's overall HSE work and is 
addressed by a special follow-up team consisting of a personnel consultant, the head of security, the 
chief safety representative and representatives of the occupational health service. The bank was not 
subject to any robberies in 2015. Two minor personal injuries were registered in 2015. These were 
reported to the relevant authorities and followed up in accordance with the applicable procedures. 
 
Total sick leave in 2015 amounted to 3.58 per cent of total working hours, compared with 3.40 per 
cent in 2014. The sick leave rate for men was 1.59 per cent and for women 4.55 per cent in 2015. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MEASURES AGAINST MONEY LAUNDERING AND THE FINANCING OF 
TERRORISM 
 
Sparebanken Øst has established procedures and instructions in order to comply with all laws and 
regulations concerning the prevention of money laundering and the financing of terrorism. We have 
established comprehensive control procedures to uncover any nonconformities and provide regular 
training on the subject.  
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Risk-based customer checks are carried out on all existing customers twice a year. New customers 
are subject to customer checks based on a 'know your customer' principle. This entails checks to 
authenticate identification papers and storing identification documents.   
 
We still require the presentation of a valid passport before a customer relationship is established. In 
our  
self-service channels, BankID in the only valid means of identification that can be used. All new and 
existing customers who contact our offices must complete a form that states the customer's reasons 
for opening accounts and the products they wish to use.   
 
We also continuously monitor all transactions carried out in our systems. All suspicious transactions 
are reported to the Norwegian National Authority for Investigation and Prosecution of Economic and 
Environmental Crime (ØKOKRIM). In 2015, we reported 79 suspected incidents of money laundering 
to ØKOKRIM. This is an increase compared with 2014 when 69 cases were reported. A thorough 
training programme and constant vigilance throughout the organisation, coupled with good systems 
and procedures, are prerequisites for achieving good quality in this work.  
 
 
DIVIDEND POLICY 
 
The board of Sparebanken Øst approved changes to the dividend policy from and including the 2015 
financial year.  
Sparebanken Øst's financial goals for its activities are to achieve results that provide a good, stable 
return on the bank's equity and to create value for equity certificate holders with competitive returns 
in the form of dividends and capital appreciation on equity certificates.  
Profit for the year will be divided between equity certificate holders and social capital in accordance 
with their respective proportion of the bank's equity. Sparebanken Øst will endeavour to pay 50 to 
75 per cent of the profit allocated to equity certificate holders as dividends.  
 
Sparebanken Øst also aims to distribute an amount equivalent to 50 to 75 per cent of the dividend 
paid to equity certificate holders as dividends on social capital in the form of gifts to charitable 
causes. When determining the dividend and donations, account will be taken of the bank's financial 
performance, market situation, dividend stability and core capital requirements.  
 
 
OUTLOOK 
 
The level of uncertainty in the Norwegian economy is expected to rise higher in 2016 than it has been 
in previous years. This will affect the bank's general growth and earnings opportunities. Low oil prices 
are affecting the business sector in some regions of Norway and thus employment rates. 
Sparebanken Øst's customer portfolio is generally not directly affected by lower activity in the oil 
sector. Low interest rates are strengthening the debt serving capacity of households and companies, 
including those with lower incomes. A weak Norwegian kroner exchange rate is providing Norwegian 
export companies with competitive advantages abroad and thus increased income. Rising 
unemployment could lessen the payment capacity of affected households. Sparebanken Øst is seeing 
that higher unemployment and lower activity in the oil sector will gradually affect economic growth 
in large parts of Norway. The constantly rising housing prices in the central Eastern Norway area can 
be explained by low interest rates for home buyers and a shortage of housing in areas under 
pressure. The bank's activities are to a large degree rooted in the areas under 
pressure in Eastern Norway and the bank expects stable housing prices in its market 
area in 2016. 
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The bank has a very sound capital situation that satisfies the authorities' requirements at the start of 
2016. This provides the bank with room for manoeuvre and not least security in a year of greater 
uncertainty. The bank's target for CET1 capital is 14.5 per cent. The bank also has a solid liquidity 
buffer that provides security should the bank experience problems accessing funding during the year. 
The bank's target for long-term funding is 105 per cent of non-liquid assets. The bank expects to be 
able to obtain new funding with margins on a par with those of the major regional banks. The bank 
believes it is in a good position in the capital markets and aims to ensure simple, open 
communication with its various investors. The bank's target for its return on equity has been set at 
10 per cent.  
 
Growth in lending to and deposits from customers in 2016 will depend on the general competition in 
the banking market and access to long-term funding. The bank expects growth in lending to both 
retail and business customers. The growth is expected to be distributed evenly across different 
distribution channels and geographical markets. Little or no growth is expected in regions with 
significantly higher risk and the same is true for industries that are especially vulnerable to negative 
macroeconomic factors. Growth in lending to retail customers will primarily come from home 
mortgages and financing used cars (AS Financiering). The growth in lending to business will generally 
occur in the bank's local markets in Drammen and Eiker. Repayment loans with security in real estate 
will again be the bank's main product in the business market in 2016.  
 
Banking involves risk and non-performance and losses on loans to customers cannot be excluded. In 
2015, the bank significantly reduced its volume of non-performing and impaired commitments. The 
bank has substantial in-house expertise that will work to resolve any problem commitments that 
might arise in 2016. This includes expertise within recovery as well as property development and 
operation. Fluctuations in the value of securities in the form of equities and bonds cannot be 
excluded. The holding of bonds is exclusively held for liquidity purposes. No significant changes in the 
bank's ownership interests in Frende Holding AS and Eksportfinans ASA are expected in 2016. 
 
The bank expects continued pressure on margins on loans to retail customers in 2016. The supply 
side in the bank market is expected to decrease somewhat, although the level of competition is 
expected to persist in high quality customer segments. Margins for lending to business are generally 
expected to increase to compensate for the higher risk and funding costs. A base rate close to zero is 
challenging for the bank's interest margin between loans and deposits. The level of uncertainty 
regarding macroeconomic developments, the bank's competitiveness, and the development of 
margins for the bank's borrowing in 2016 are similarly sources of uncertainty with respect to the 
bank's earnings and return on equity.    
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Hokksund, 31 December 2015 
Drammen, 10 March 2016 

 
    

                                                           
Jorund Rønning Indrelid  
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Board member 
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Board member 

 
Sverre Nedberg 
Board member 

 
Elly Therese Thoresen 
Board member 

 
 

 
Hanne Margrete Lenes Solem 
Board member 

 
 

 
Inger Helen Pettersen 
Employee representative 

 
 

 
Pål Strand 
CEO 

 



   Page 21 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 
Savings banks are self-owned foundations. The Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 
Governance, created by the Norwegian Corporate Governance Board (NUES), has been 
prepared for limited liability companies owned by shareholders with shares listed on 
regulated markets in Norway. The standard applies to savings banks as appropriate. The 
Board of Trustees is the supreme governing body of Sparebanken Øst. The Board of Trustees 
corresponds to the general meetings of limited liability companies. The Board of Trustees is 
elected from among the equity certificate holders, employees, customers and municipal 
nominees in Drammen, Nedre Eiker and Øvre Eiker. Each member of the Board of Trustees 
has one vote. The purpose of the NUES recommendation is to ensure that companies listed 
on regulated markets in Norway have corporate governance which clarifies the division of 
roles between the shareholders, Board of Directors and management, beyond that which is 
stipulated in the legislation. In a savings bank, it is also necessary to clarify the roles in 
relation to employees, customers and municipality-appointed representatives. This is done 
through Sparebanken Øst’s Articles of Association. 
 
The Board of Directors and management of Sparebanken Øst annually assess the corporate 
governance principles and how they are practised and adhered to within the organisation. 
Sparebanken Øst first submits a report on the corporate governance principles and practice 
in accordance with Section 3-3(b) of the Accounting Act. This is followed by a report with 
comments on each item of the Norwegian recommendation. The review is based on the last 
revised version of the recommendation of 30 October 2014. 
 
The Act Relating to Financial Institutions (Financial Institutions Act) entered into force on 1 
January 2016, with transitional rules that give the banks one year to fulfil the act’s 
requirements, unless otherwise is specified through other transitional rules. Sparebanken 
Øst’s Articles of Association were amended in accordance with the requirements and rules 
stipulated in the Financial Institutions Act on 5 January 2016. The report on corporate 
governance has been prepared in accordance with the legislation and Articles of Association 
that applied as at 31 December 2015. Changes that follow from the new Financial 
Institutions Act and/or amended Articles of Association have been explained under each 
individual section in the report.  
 

Report on corporate governance  
The following description explains how Section 3-3(b)(2) of the Accounting Act is complied 
with in Sparebanken Øst. The structure refers to the numbering in the section. 
 
1-3. Statement of the corporate governance recommendations and 
regulations to which Sparebanken Øst is subject or follows 
Savings banks are subject to licensing and extensive regulations, which govern the bank’s 
activities. The Financial Supervision Act, Savings Bank Act and Financing Activities Act and 
associated regulations play a central role. From 01.01.2016, the Savings Bank Act and 
Financing Activities Act will be replaced by the Financial Institutions Act. This act defines at 
length what is regarded as good corporate governance in savings banks. Savings banks are 
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subject to supervision by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway. Sparebanken Øst 
furthermore adheres to the Norwegian corporate governance recommendations published 
by the Norwegian Corporate Governance Board as appropriate. Deviations may be necessary 
in order to take all the interest groups within the savings bank into account. The 
recommendations are available at www.nues.no. Any deviations from the recommendations 
are noted. 
 
4. Description of the main elements of the savings bank’s internal control and 
risk management systems relating to the financial reporting process 
See section entitled “Risk management and internal control” below. 
 
5. Provisions in the Articles of Association that fully or partly extend or waive 
provisions in Part 5 of the Public Limited Companies Act 
Until 31.12.2015, Sparebanken Øst was governed by the Savings Bank Act and the Articles of 
Association, and has complied with the requirements of this act. From 01.01.2016 the bank 
will be regulated by the Financial Institutions Act, and the Articles of Association were 
amended on 05.01.2016, partly as a result of this. 
 
6. The composition of managerial bodies and a description of the key 
elements of applicable instructions and guidelines for the work of the bodies 
and any committees 
See sections entitled “The Board of Trustees”, “Nomination committees”, “Corporate 
Assembly and Board of Directors, composition and independence” and “The Board of 
Directors’ assignments” below. 
 
7. Provisions of the Articles of Association governing the appointment and 
replacement of members of the Board of Directors 
See section entitled “Corporate assembly and Board of Directors, composition and 
independence” below. 
 
8. Provisions of the Articles of Association and delegation of authority 
entitling the Board of Directors to make decisions to buy back or issue own 
shares or own equity certificates 
See section entitled “Company capital and dividends” below. 
 

Corporate governance  
Report on corporate governance 
The corporate governance of Sparebanken Øst contributes to safeguarding the interests of 
employees, customers, equity certificate holders and other external parties in Sparebanken 
Øst. Corporate governance is the overall responsibility of the Board of Directors and must 
ensure that bodies and functions work in accordance with regulations, and that the business 
activities are managed in an effective and purposeful manner over time.  
Management principles at Sparebanken Øst are founded on a declared vision, company 
mission, the company’s objectives, strategies, and core values, see section entitled “Strategy 
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and objectives” in the Directors’ Report for 2015, including the savings bank’s ethical rules as 
determined by the Board of Directors. The introduction to the rules is as follows: 
 
“Sparebanken Øst and the other savings banks play a central role in modern society. We are 
more dependent on trust from all groups than other businesses. Of course trust is not just 
based on solidity and profitability; but also on attitudes and the conduct we as a bank 
demonstrate. We cannot act independently of our surroundings. We have to be accepted by 
the market. To achieve this there must be no doubts about our ethical level.  
 
The ethical level in Sparebanken Øst is the employee’s responsibility. It is naturally also the 
responsibility of the management and the staff representatives. Via their conduct, managers 
determine the level of the standard, but managers cannot ensure a high ethical standard 
alone. Everyone contributes to determining the ethical level in the savings bank. This is our 
common challenge. 
 
At Sparebanken Øst we require loyalty, integrity and openness among managers and 
employees. There is scope for disagreement in internal discussions and deliberations, but 
after a decision has been made all employees are expected to loyally stand by the decision.” 
 
Sparebanken Øst must be development-oriented, with a local anchoring, and be sound, far-
sighted and credible. Sparebanken Øst’s corporate social responsibility is anchored in 
statutes and guidelines. In the savings bank’s overall strategy it is clearly stated that 
Sparebanken Øst is to be community-oriented and have high ethical standards. The savings 
bank shall be a contributor to wealth creation and sustainable development, particularly in 
the municipalities of Øvre Eiker, Nedre Eiker and Drammen. Corporate social responsibility 
also applies to financing the development of the local business community, the development 
of the local community via local development, and donations to culture, sport and other 
social activities in the local community. The Board of Trustees is the savings bank’s highest 
body. The composition of the Board of Trustees is stated in the Articles of Association and 
exhibits clear corporate social responsibility to the local community through its very 
composition, which gives equal representation to customers (elected by investors), the local 
community (elected by the local municipality) and the employees, in addition to the bank’s 
equity certificate holders. In 2015 the savings bank donated gifts worth NOK 7.0 million. 
These donations were made to associations and clubs involved in sport, culture and social 
activities. For a complete overview, see the summary after the notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
Management control is maintained by the savings bank’s chosen agencies and functions to 
which responsibilities are ascribed. Solid qualifications and competences in the savings 
bank’s core activities, with purposeful organisation based on private and business market 
activities, financial operations, IT operations and recovery respectively, form the basis for 
effective and target-oriented operations at Sparebanken Øst. Furthermore, the savings bank 
possesses solid internal legal competence. The framework for corporate governance in 
savings banks is laid down in a comprehensive body of legislation and regulations. The body 
of regulations consists of special rules for financial undertakings that in a number of areas 
are significantly more comprehensive than general corporate law and recommendations 
directed at corporations in general. The special rules pertain to supervisory requirements, 
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concessions, nature of business, equity and dividends, composition and responsibility of 
steering bodies, risk management and control in relation to acquisitions, mergers, etc. 
 
Sparebanken Øst practices a “comply or explain” principle with regard to the Code of 
Practice (NUES), so that any deviations from NUES are commented on. In this respect we 
take into account the fact that savings banks are self-governing institutions and that the 
governance structure and composition of the governing bodies differ significantly from 
limited liability companies. 
Presentations, quarterly reports and the Articles of Association, etc., are available at 
www.oest.no, under “Investor”. 
 
The company 
Sparebanken Øst’s overall activities are presented in the Articles of Association. In 
accordance with the Articles of Association applicable until 05.01.2016, Sparebanken Øst 
aims to promote saving by accepting deposits from an unlimited circle of depositors and 
managing the funds the savings bank administers in accordance with the legislation and 
regulations that apply to savings banks at any given time. The savings bank may also 
undertake financing activities and in this way offer, manage and provide guarantees for 
credit and in other ways contribute to the financing of others’ activities, in accordance with 
the Financial Institutions Act and other provisions that apply to financing enterprises at any 
given time. Furthermore, the savings bank may undertake all normal banking operations and 
banking services in accordance with the Savings Banks Act or provisions pursuant to this act.  
 
The savings bank may own stakes in other financial institutions as well as in companies that 
run activities with a natural connection to banking and financial enterprises in accordance 
with the provisions of the Financing Activities Act, Savings Bank Act and other laws in effect 
at any given time. The savings bank may also own shares in other companies, but may not 
operate or participate actively as a responsible party in companies that undertake activities 
other than those stated in this section, unless this is temporary and necessary in order to 
secure the bank’s claims. The savings bank’s activities are executed within the framework 
specified in the concession for operating a savings bank, and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Savings Banks Act, the Financing Activities Act, and other legislation and 
regulations that apply to savings banks.  
 
In accordance with the amended Articles of Association of 05.01.2016, the savings bank’s 
objective is to undertake business activities and services that it is natural to expect savings 
banks to undertake in accordance with current applicable legislation and current 
concessions. 
 
For a further description of the company’s activities, refer to the “Directors’ report for 
2015”. 
 
Company capital and dividends 
Company capital 
The Board of Directors undertakes an ongoing assessment of the capital situation in the light 
of the company’s mission, strategy and required risk profile. Minimum requirements 
regarding equity for savings banks are stipulated in Section 2-9(a) of the Financing Activities 
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Act, and from 01.01.2016 in Section 14-1 of the Financial Institutions Act. Requirements 
regarding a capital conservation buffer, systemic risk buffer and countercyclical capital 
buffer are governed by Section 2-9(e) of the Financing Activities Act, and from 01.01.2016 by 
Section 14-1 of the Financial Institutions Act. The group’s common equity tier 1 capital ratio 
target is 14.5 per cent from 01.07.2016. For further details of the rules regarding capital 
adequacy, which principles are used as the basis for the assessment of capital requirements, 
and a further specification of the elements in the savings bank’s capital adequacy, reference 
is made to the savings bank’s pillar 3 reporting on risk management, risk exposure and 
capital adequacy conditions, which is published on the bank’s website. The Financial 
Supervisory Authority of Norway conducts inspections to ensure that the savings bank is 
operated with adequate financial solidity in relation to actual risk levels. The dividend policy 
is summarised in the Directors’ Report. The Board of Trustees has granted the Board of 
Directors authorisation to acquire and/or pledge security in the form of own equity 
certificates. The authorisation is valid for 18 months from 12.03.2015 and is subject to 
annual review. The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway has approved the 
authorisation. For practical reasons, the savings bank deviates from the NUES 
recommendation that such authorisations shall apply for one year.  
 
Capital augmentation 
The Board of Trustees has not granted the Board of Directors a general authorisation to 
augment the bank’s capital. If the savings bank requires increased capital this will be 
considered as a separate matter at a meeting of the Board of Trustees. Decisions to increase 
the ownership capital must be approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway, 
cf. Section 2(b)-23(6) of the Financing Activities Act, and from 01.01.2016 Section 10-4(3) of 
the Financial Institutions Act. 
 
Equal treatment and transactions with related parties 
Equal treatment 
Sparebanken Øst has one equity certificate class. The savings bank’s equity certificates are 
listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange in line with the rules stipulated in the financial legislation. 
All equity certificate holders have the same rights. In 2015 no transactions took place 
between the savings bank and the equity certificate holders and their related parties other 
than loans, deposits and payment settlements, as well as salaries/fees to employees and 
staff representatives who are equity certificate holders.  
 
Preferential rights 
The preferential rights of equity certificate holders in the event of capital increases are 
stated in Section 2(b)-23(3) of the Financing Activities Act, and from 01.01.2016 Section 10-
10(3) of the Financial Institutions Act. This states that in the event of an increase in 
ownership capital, the owners of equity certificates have preferential rights to subscribe to 
the new equity certificates in the same ratio in which they already own equity certificates 
issued by the institution. Section 10-5 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act regarding 
the disregarding of preferential rights applies accordingly.  
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Transactions with related parties 
The savings bank’s ethical rules stipulate that Board members and employees have a duty to 
state whether they directly or indirectly hold significant interests in agreements entered into 
by the savings bank (the group). No such notifications were received in 2015. 
 
Free marketability 
The savings bank’s equity certificates are traded freely on the Oslo Stock Exchange. There 
are no ownership restrictions other than the applicable rules of the Financing Activities Act 
(from 01.01.2016 the Financial Institutions Act) regarding ownership restrictions and 
licensing obligations, and the rules stipulated in the Articles of Association regarding Board 
approval of purchases of equity certificates that apply to equity certificate holders in 
Sparebanken Øst. 
 
Board of Trustees 
The Board of Trustees shall ensure that the savings bank acts in line with its purpose in 
accordance legislation, the Articles of Association and decisions passed by the Board of 
Trustees. The Board of Trustees adopts the financial statements and approves remuneration 
for the savings bank’s representatives, including the Board of Directors, control committee, 
nomination committee and selected auditor. The Board of Trustees appoints the nomination 
committee from among the members of the Board of Trustees.  
 
In accordance with the Articles of Association applicable until 05.01.2016, the Board of 
Trustees shall make decisions on all matters that the Board of Directors presents to the 
Board of Trustees for a decision. The Board of Trustees shall: 
 
- Elect the Board of Directors, including the Chair and Vice Chair of the Board of Directors 
- Elect the control committee 
- Adopt the Directors’ Report 
- Elect the auditor 
- Determine the fee paid to the bank’s representatives 
- Make decisions in all cases relating to changes to the savings bank’s activities, acquisitions 
of other companies, or other matters that are of special importance to the savings bank. 
However, this does not apply to the acquisition of smaller companies within the savings 
bank’s current area of business, or if for other specific reasons the case ought to be decided 
by the Board of Directors and only thereafter submitted to the Board of Trustees. 
 
In accordance with the Articles of Association applicable from 05.01.2016, the following 
matters shall be handled by the ordinary Board of Trustees: 

Election of the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Board of Trustees 
Adoption of the annual financial statements and Directors’ Report, including the 
allocation of profit / distribution of dividends 
Other matters pertaining to the Board of Trustees in accordance with legislation or 
statutes 

 
Composition 
The composition of the Board of Trustees is stated in the Articles of Association. Local 
corporate social responsibility is exercised via the composition of the Board of Trustees, in 
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which customers (elected by depositors), the local community (municipal representatives), 
equity certificate holders and the employees are represented. The composition in 
accordance with the new Articles of Association adopted on 05.01.2016 is given in 
parentheses. The Board of Trustees consists of a total of 48 (32) members with 36 (23) 
deputy members. Nine (6) members are elected by the depositors (customers), with 2 (1) 
from Øvre Eiker, 3 (2) from Nedre Eiker and 4 (3) from Drammen. Nine (6) municipally 
elected (publically elected) members are elected with proportional shares from the 
municipalities of Øvre Eiker, Nedre Eiker and Drammen. Twelve (8) members are elected by 
the employees, and 18 (12) members are elected by the equity certificate holders. The 
members of the Board of Trustees are elected for terms of 4 years. The members of the 
Board of Trustees are elected in accordance with the Savings Bank Act (Financial Institutions 
Act) and the bank’s Articles of Association. This means that the position is personal and 
meetings may not be attended by proxy. NUES’ recommendation regarding the use of 
proxies at general meetings therefore does not apply to equity certificate holders in 
Sparebanken Øst. In 2015, the Chair of the Board of Trustees was Frank Borgen and the 
Deputy Chair was Lars M. Lunde. 
 
Meetings 
The Board of Trustees holds one fixed meeting per year. In addition, meetings of the Board 
of Trustees are convened as deemed necessary by the Chair of the Board of Trustees. The 
Board of Trustees held two meetings in 2015. Eight days’ notice is required to convene a 
meeting of the Board of Trustees, in accordance with Section 11(3) of the Savings Bank Act. 
NUES recommends that the invitation is sent with 21 days’ notice. The savings bank’s 
auditor, Board of Directors and any members of the control committee who are not trustees 
are all invited to meetings of the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees’ meetings are 
chaired by the Chair of the Board of Trustees, cf. the Articles of Association and the Savings 
Bank Act, and thus comply with the recommendation for the independent chairing of 
meetings. The savings bank adheres to the NUES recommendation in all aspects relating to 
case documents, reminders, elections and the publication of minutes of the meetings of the 
Board of Trustees. 
 
In accordance with the Financial Institutions Act applicable from 01.01.2016, invitations to 
the meetings of the Board of Trustees will hereafter be provided by the Board of Directors. 
In addition, meetings will be convened with at least 21 days’ notice, cf. Section 8-3(1) of the 
Financial Institutions Act. 
 
Control committee 
This item is not subject to the recommendation. The control committee conducts 
inspections of the savings bank’s activities in accordance with Section 13 of the Savings 
Banks Act and the instructions provided by the Board of Trustees. The control committee 
reviews the Board’s minutes, numbered letters, cf. Section 5-4 of the Auditors Act, and the 
auditor’s report, examines the security for selected loans, and ensures that the management 
of the savings bank’s funds is undertaken on a responsible basis. The Board of Directors and 
the internal auditor are obligated to give the control committee all the information the 
committee deems necessary in order to execute its tasks. The control committee makes 
reports to the Board of Trustees concerning the annual financial statements and the 
Directors’ Report, and concerning the adoption of the annual financial statements. If the 
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control committee obtains knowledge of significant omissions, errors or discrepancies of 
significance or scope, or if it believes that the savings bank has suffered major losses, the 
committee is obligated to immediately report the matter to the Financial Supervisory 
Authority of Norway. The control committee is elected by and from among the members of 
the Board of Trustees. In 2015, the control committee consisted of the following persons:  
 
Eli Kristin Nordsiden, Chair (from 26.03.2015) 
Randi H. Sandli 
Sjur Kortgaard 
Oddmar Nilsen (from 26.03.2015) 
Øivind Andersson (member and Chair until 26.03.2015) 
 
Management secretary Nina Sem is the secretary of the control committee. 
 
The Financial Institutions Act contains no provisions regarding the control committee. In 
accordance with the amendment to the Articles of Association of 05.01.2016, the control 
committee will be discontinued from the same date. 
 
Nomination committees  
The savings bank’s Articles of Association state that the nomination of members of the 
Board of Trustees and the Board of Directors must take place in accordance with the 
recommendations of a nomination committee. There are three nomination committees in 
Sparebanken Øst: 
  
1) Nomination committee for the Board of Trustees and the Board of Directors 
2) Nomination committee for investor representatives (customers from 05.01.2016) 
3) Nomination committee for equity certificate holders 
 
The employees’ representatives on the Board of Trustees and the Board of Directors are 
elected by and from among the employees, in accordance with Regulation no. 9386 of 
23.12.1977. The nomination committee for the Board of Trustees features representatives 
from all groups that are represented on the Board of Trustees, including the equity 
certificate holders. It must be ensured that due consideration is paid to independence and 
legal competence in the relationship between the nomination committee and those 
appointed, and it is also emphasised that the various nomination committees must maintain 
their independence from the Board of Directors of the savings bank. The various nomination 
committees shall also ensure that access to the necessary competence is available with 
regard to the tasks faced by the nomination committee. 
 
The nomination committee for the Board of Trustees and the Board of Directors is elected by 
and from among the members of the Board of Trustees. The composition of the nomination 
committee is specified in the savings bank’s Articles of Association. In this respect, NUES’ 
recommendations are followed to the extent that they are sanctioned by the Articles of 
Association. The recommendations of the nomination committee regarding the Board of 
Trustees are made in accordance with NUES. The nomination committee has drawn up 
separate guidelines, which have been approved by the Board of Trustees. In 2015, the 
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nomination committee for the Board of Trustees and Board of Directors has consisted of the 
following persons:  
 
 
Kåre J. Grøtta, Chair. From 26.03.2015 Petter Qvam, Chair 
Thomas F. Halvorsen 
Jon Aas 
Bent Inge Bye 
Anne Siri Rhoden Jensen, employee. From 26.03.2015 Jan Christian Skau, employee 
 
The savings bank fulfils the requirement that a majority of the members of the nomination 
committee must be independent of the Board of Directors and other senior employees. The 
savings bank’s Articles of Association require that all members of the nomination committee 
are members of the Board of Trustees. NUES’ recommendation that at least one member 
should not be a member of the corporate assembly, board of representatives (Board of 
Trustees) or the Board of Directors, is therefore not relevant.  
 
In 2015, the nomination committee held separate meetings with both the Chair of the Board 
of Directors and the bank’s CEO. 
 
Corporate assembly and Board of Directors, composition and independence 
Sparebanken Øst does not have a corporate assembly. 
 
Composition of the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors consists of seven external members and one representative from the 
employees, with the right to vote. The deputy representative elected by the employees also 
attends meetings. The CEO and Deputy CEO are entitled to attend meetings, but do not hold 
voting rights.  
 
The composition of the Board of Directors, and the Board members’ backgrounds and 
participation in Board meetings in 2015, are described in the presentation of the Board of 
Directors in the Directors’ Report for 2015. More detailed information about each Board 
member can be found on our website at www.oest.no/om oss/styret og ledelse. 
 
The deputy representative elected by the employees also attends Board meetings. 
The CEO has attended 13 of the 14 Board meetings, and the Deputy CEO has attended 13 of 
the 14 Board meetings. 
 
Election of the Board of Directors 
The election of Board members occurs following the establishment of a nomination 
committee appointed by the Board of Trustees. The nomination committee prepares a 
recommendation to the Board of Trustees. 
 
Board members are elected for two years at a time. The Board of Trustees nominates the 
Chair and Vice-Chair. The competence and professional experience of the Board members 
are presented to the Board of Trustees in connection with the nomination process. 
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Independence 
The Board of Directors must act independently and the members of the Board that are not 
employee representatives must be assessed as being independent of the savings bank’s 
significant business relations and the savings bank’s day-to-day management. None of the 
savings bank’s senior employees are members of the Board of Directors. The composition of 
the Board of Directors constitutes a diversity in which competence and abilities form the 
basis for the performance of the necessary work of the Board. The instructions for the Board 
of Directors state that the Board acts as a single unit. However, each individual Board 
member is responsible for the decisions made and transactions undertaken by the Board.  
 
Board members’ holdings of own equity certificates 
The Board members’ holding of equity certificates in Sparebanken Øst as at 31.12.2015 is 
stated in Note 56. 
 
The work of the Board of Directors 
The duties of the Board  
The Board of Directors leads the savings bank’s activities in compliance with legislation, 
regulations, the Articles of Association and additional instructions provided by the Board of 
Trustees. 
 
The management of the savings bank falls to the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors 
shall ensure the responsible organisation of the savings bank, and ensure that the 
requirements regarding the bank’s organisation and the establishment of satisfactory 
management and control systems are met. 
 
The Board of Directors shall establish plans and budgets for the bank’s activities. The Board 
of Directors shall also establish guidelines for the organisation, including confidentiality rules 
that apply to the bank and its activities. 
 
The Board of Directors shall keep up-to-date regarding the bank’s financial position and 
obligations, in order to ensure that its activities, accounts and asset management are subject 
to satisfactory control. At least once per quarter, the Board of Directors shall hold a meeting 
with the auditor without the bank’s General Manager or other members of the bank’s 
management being present. 
 
The Board of Directors shall supervise the management and the bank’s other activities. The 
Board of Directors shall establish instructions for the General Manager, and ensure that the 
General Manager regularly informs the Board of the bank’s activities, position and profit 
performance. 
 
The Board of Directors shall undertake the investigations necessary in order to carry out its 
duties.  
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that the savings bank has, at any given 
time, sufficient equity to cover the risks and scope of the savings bank’s activities. The Board 
of Directors has delegated parts of the management responsibility to the administration 
through various delegation resolutions. These resolutions are given for various durations. 
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The Board of Directors has also established procedures and rules for the internal auditor, 
who undertakes operational audits in line with applicable standards for such audits. 
Sparebanken Øst’s internal auditor is KPMG.  
 
Duty of confidentiality 
All elected representatives at Sparebanken Øst are subject to the same confidentiality rules, 
ethics, and legal competence as apply to the savings bank’s employees in general. 
Independence between the savings bank’s various managing and controlling bodies is a 
central criterion for the responsible management of the activities. Among the elected 
representatives at Sparebanken Øst there exist – according to the Board of Directors’ 
assessment – no close personal relationships that could influence the individual elected 
representatives’ independence and decision-making powers.  
 
Instructions for the Board of Directors 
The Board of Directors’ responsibilities and tasks are stipulated in the Savings Bank Act, the 
Financial Institutions Act and the Articles of Association. The Financial Institutions Act 
replaces the Savings Bank Act and Financing Activities Act from 01.01.2016. The Board of 
Directors has drawn up its own separate set of instructions, which are subject to regular 
review. The instructions were last reviewed on 10.02.2015. The instructions describe the 
Board of Directors’ responsibilities, the matters the Board of Directors will consider, and the 
rules that apply to the consideration of these matters. The Board of Directors has set 
instructions for the CEO, who is responsible for the day-to-day operations and management 
of the savings bank. The instructions for the Board of Directors and instructions for the 
General Manager specify the division of responsibilities and tasks between the Board of 
Directors and the General Manager. 
 
Financial reporting 
The Board of Directors receives monthly financial reports in which the savings bank’s 
economic and financial status is commented on. The monthly reports form the basis for 
internal management and communication regarding the status of the savings bank. The 
Board of Directors receives periodic reports that present the savings bank’s compliance with 
the delegated authorisations, as well as quarterly reports presenting developments in the 
bank’s overall risks. 
 
Annual plan 
The Board of Directors prepares an annual plan for its work. The annual plan contains a 
meeting plan for the year, details of fixed tasks at specific meetings, and a financial calendar. 
The Board of Directors completes a self-evaluation process each year. This evaluation 
includes an assessment of the Board members’ competence, the composition of the Board 
of Directors, and how the members of the Board of Directors function both as a group and 
individually. This self-evaluation is made available to the nomination committee for the 
Board of Trustees. 
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Committees of the Board of Directors 
Remuneration committee 
In accordance with the requirements of Section 2-18 et seq. of the Financing Activities Act, 
from 01.01.2016 Section 15-1 et seq. of the Financial Institutions Act, and the regulations 
regarding remuneration in financial institutions, a remuneration committee has been 
established within the savings bank. The purpose of the remuneration committee is to 
prepare guidelines for the Board of Directors regarding the remuneration of senior 
employees. It must also ensure that the company at all times has and practices guidelines 
and a framework for the remuneration scheme in accordance with the rules for the 
remuneration schemes of financial institutions, securities firms and investment management 
companies. 
 
The committee undertakes its duties in accordance with the guidelines adopted by the Board 
of Directors. The committee nominates its Chair. Its members are elected by the Board of 
Directors. In 2015, the remuneration committee consisted of the following persons: 
 
Hanne Margrete Lenes Solem, Chair 
Sverre Nedberg 
Jorund Rønning Indrelid 
Inger Helen Pettersen, employee representative on the Board of Directors 
 
Deputy CEO Kjell Engen has been the secretary for the committee. The Board of Directors 
has approved the Remuneration Guidelines for Sparebanken Øst. 
 
Audit committee 
In accordance with Section 17(c) of the Savings Bank Act, and from 01.01.2016 Section 8-18 
of the Financial Institutions Act, the savings bank has established an audit committee in 
accordance with the guidelines provided by the act. The members are elected by the Board 
of Directors, and serve for one year at a time. The Chair of the committee is appointed by 
the Board of Directors. The main tasks of the audit committee are to prepare the Board of 
Directors’ follow-up work regarding the accounts and reporting, monitor the systems for risk 
management and internal control and the internal auditor’s work, and assess and monitor 
the internal auditor’s independence.  
 
The committee undertakes its duties in accordance with the instructions adopted by the 
Board of Directors. The audit committee holds six to seven meetings per year. In 2015, the 
audit committee consisted of the following persons: 
 
Øivind Andersson, Chair from 05.05.2015 
Sverre Nedberg, Chair until 05.05.2015 
Hanne Margrete Lenes Solem 
Elly Therese Thoresen until 05.05.2015 
 
Risk committee 
In accordance with Section 2-9(b) of the Financing Activities Act, and from 01.01.2016 
Section 13-6(4) of the Financial Institutions Act, the savings bank has established a risk 
committee as described by the act. The members of the committee are elected by the Board 
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of Directors, and serve for one year at a time. The Chair of the committee is appointed by 
the Board of Directors. The risk committee’s main task is to prepare for and advise the Board 
of Directors in accordance with the savings bank’s existing and future risk appetite and risk 
strategy, as well as to follow up and implement this strategy. The committee is also tasked 
with monitoring the extent to which the savings bank’s pricing of products towards 
customers fully reflects the risk borne by the savings bank. The committee undertakes its 
duties in accordance with the instructions adopted by the Board of Directors. The risk 
committee holds six to seven meetings per year in connection with the meetings of the audit 
committee. In 2015 the audit committee consisted of the following persons: 
 
Morten A. Yttreeide, Chair from 05.05.2015 
Sverre Nedberg, Chair until 05.05.2015 
Elly Therese Thoresen 
Hanne Margrete Lenes Solem, Chair until 05.05.2015 
 
Minutes are kept of the meetings of the audit committee and the risk committee. The 
minutes are presented by the chairs of the committees to the convened Board of Directors 
at the next meeting of the Board of Directors. 
 
Risk management and internal control 
Risk management shall support the savings bank’s development and achievement of 
objectives, and shall ensure financial stability and responsible business operations. This is 
achieved through a risk profile that is characterised by a strong risk culture and a high 
awareness of risk management. 
 
In order to ensure an effective and appropriate process for risk management and internal 
control, the savings bank has used the COSO model as a basis. This is a recognised 
framework for risk management and internal control. The basis of the model is that risk 
management and internal control apply to all parts of the organisation, and that an overall 
perspective of risk management and internal control is used. Further, risk management and 
internal control cover both strategic and operative conditions, and particular focus is placed 
on quality in external reporting and compliance with legislation and rules. The model builds 
upon the following components: 
 

Internal environment 
The company culture is the foundation of integrated risk management and internal 
control, and consists of the management philosophy, management style, people 
within the organisation and their attitudes, values, ethical guidelines, control and 
management structure and organisation. 
 
Establishment of objectives 
Objectives must be established before risks can be identified and assessed with 
regard to the achievement of these objectives, and necessary measures can be 
implemented in order to manage the risks. The objectives must support and be in 
accordance with the savings bank’s objectives and reflect the savings bank’s risk 
appetite. 
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Identification of risks 
Incidents that may influence the implementation of the strategy or achievement of 
objectives must be identified. This must take place on an ongoing basis and in the 
event of significant changes in the savings bank’s activities. 
 
Risk assessment 
Identified risks are analysed in order to determine how they shall be managed. The 
assessment shall cover all significant risks, including commercial and operational 
risks. All significant risks shall be quantified to the greatest extent possible. 
 
Risk management 
Various alternatives for managing risks are evaluated; avoid, accept, reduce through 
various measures or share the risk with others. 
 
Control activities 
Guidelines and routines are established and implemented in order to ensure that the 
form of risk management is selected in an effective manner. 
 
Information and communication 
Processes that ensure that relevant information is identified and communicated in 
the correct form at the correct time. 
 
Follow-up 
Shall provide the Board of Directors and management with a reasonable level of 
assurance that the activities are being carried out as planned and that all significant 
risks are identified, managed and controlled in an effective manner. 

 
Roles and responsibilities 
The bank’s Board of Directors holds the overall responsibility for risk management and 
internal control. The Board of Directors determines principles for risk management and 
internal control, determines risk tolerances, is responsible for ensuring that the savings bank 
has sufficient capital with regard to the underlying risk and future growth plans, and must 
ensure that risk management and internal control are established and carried out in 
accordance with legislation and regulations, the Articles of Association, orders from the 
Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway and guidelines provided to the management by 
the Board of Directors. 
 
The CEO is responsible for ensuring and following up that responsible risk management and 
internal control are established in accordance with the guidelines provided by the Board of 
Directors. The responsibility also includes ensuring that risk management and internal 
control are documented, undertaken and monitored in a responsible manner, and that the 
reporting obligation to the Board of Directors is in accordance with legislation, regulations, 
the Articles of Association and the savings bank’s adopted principles in this area. The 
responsibility also includes ensuring that the risk management systems are implemented 
and followed up and that the controls are documented in accordance with legislation, 
regulations, strategy/policy and routines, and that the risk management process is 
appropriate and effective. 
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The managers for the individual business areas are responsible for identifying, managing, 
controlling and reporting risks. This is achieved through the annual review of key processes, 
in which the management defines the savings bank’s most critical business areas and 
undertakes a risk assessment of each individual area and the measures that are 
implemented in order to reduce identified risks. Every six months, the managers must 
provide confirmation that internal control has been carried out, and that this is functioning 
as expected. The managers are responsible for ensuring that all incidents are reported in the 
central incident register. 
 
The management and control department is responsible for risk models and the further 
development of risk systems, and for ensuring that the risk management systems are 
implemented, used and followed up, and for following up the savings bank’s risk status and 
development in relation to the adopted risk strategy targets and business strategy. The 
department shall receive and/or prepare periodic and sufficient information in order to 
undertake and follow-up reporting to the CEO. Furthermore, the department must ensure 
that effective systems and processes are created to ensure compliance with applicable 
regulations, as well as to identify changes to legislation/regulations, industry standards and 
internal guidelines, in order to ensure that these are implemented within the savings bank. 
The department coordinates its annual management confirmation in accordance with the 
Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway’s regulations regarding risk management and 
control, and is responsible for the central incident register. The department shall test, assess 
and provide advice on internal control, and participate in meetings of the Board’s risk 
committee. 
 
Internal audit is responsible for independently monitoring that the risk management systems 
are effective and function as intended. Internal audit reports to the Board of Directors, is 
entitled to attend Board meetings, and reports on risk management and internal control a 
minimum of once per year. Internal audit also provides advice to the Board of Directors and 
management regarding the bank’s risk management and the development of and 
compliance with controls, as well as compliance with established routines, procedures and 
guidelines. The savings bank’s internal auditor in 2015 was KPMG. The savings bank finds 
that KPMG holds the necessary expertise within the central specialist and risk areas that 
affect the savings bank’s operations. The savings bank’s two subsidiaries, AS Financiering and 
Sparebanken Øst Boligkreditt AS, are also subject to statutory internal audits. 
 
The savings bank’s balance sheet management committee holds regular meetings, at which 
the status and measures connected to the liquidity situation are discussed. The CEO, Deputy 
CEO, General Manager and Financial Manager of Sparebanken Øst Boligkreditt AS attend 
meetings of the balance sheet management committee. 
 
Within the private market, central credit departments have been established as the approval 
bodies for the granting of credit to private customers. Each individual credit department is 
located and organised as a unit, but manages various market channels. All of the 
departments are organised under the Credit Director. Within all credit departments, 
individual authorisations and authorisation matrices have been established in order to 
describe the existing authorisation hierarchy. 
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BM Kreditt is a central credit function, and the body that approves the granting of credit to 
small business customers following processing via the savings bank’s branch network. The 
department is structured as a single unit and has no sales responsibilities. The department’s 
employees have their own individual authorisations in accordance with the adopted 
authorisation matrix. 
 
The Credit department makes credit decisions above a certain size for customers in the 
business market and the private market. The department consists of two Financial Managers 
and one Senior Credit Consultant. If the allocation of the credit exceeds the authority given 
to the credit department, the case is considered by the Credit department and a decision is 
made at an overall level in accordance with the current authorisation matrices. Smaller 
commitments are entered into in accordance with the adopted framework and personal 
authorisations held in the business market department.  
 
The risk committee assesses risk exposure and undertakes risk reporting. The committee 
also assesses capital requirements. The members of the committee are the Credit Manager 
BM, Head of the PM Credit department, Financial Manager, Head of SE department, IT 
Manager and controllers. The committee’s conclusions and comments are recorded in the 
minutes. Remarks recorded in the minutes, as well as a declaration that the risk report has 
been reviewed and exhibits the correct exposures, are submitted as an appendix to the risk 
report. The report is submitted to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis. 
 
The accounting department is responsible for financial reporting, internal financial 
management, taxes and duties. 
 
A separate operative position of Anti-money Laundering Officer has been created. The 
position entails following up compliance with the regulations and the control of all new 
customer undertakings. 
 
A number of independent bodies undertake independent evaluations of the savings bank’s 
profile, follow-up and organisation with regard to the handling of financial and operational 
risk. These include the control committee, internal auditor, external auditor and Moody’s 
Investor Service.  
 
Remuneration of the Board of Directors and employee representatives 
Remuneration to the Board of Directors, Board of Trustees, control committee and 
nomination committee is determined by the Board of Trustees. The remuneration is sought 
to be adapted to the workloads and responsibilities incumbent upon each elected 
representative. Details can be found in the notes to the annual financial statements. The 
remuneration is not dependent on the savings bank’s results, and consists of a specified 
amount. There are no result-based or variable remuneration schemes for the bank’s 
representatives. Remuneration to members of the Board of Directors is listed in Note 31 to 
the annual financial statements. In 2015, none of the Board’s members have undertaken 
tasks for the bank other than their duties as Board members. 
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Remuneration to employees in senior positions 
In accordance with applicable legislation, Sections 2-18 to 2-22 of the Financing Activities 
Act, and from 01.01.2016 Sections 15-1 to 15-6 of the Financial Institutions Act, the Board 
determines the necessary guidelines for the remuneration of employees in senior positions. 
The remuneration of employees in senior positions is listed in Note 31 to the annual financial 
statements. The fixed salary constitutes the main income of all employees in Sparebanken 
Øst. The Board of Directors determines the remuneration to the CEO. The CEO determines 
the remuneration to members of the executive management. There is no agreement 
concerning variable remuneration, nor option or bonus agreements. The Board of Directors 
may decide to grant a one-off supplement to the CEO and Deputy CEO. Other members of 
the executive management participate in the profit sharing scheme adopted by the Board of 
Directors. 
 
Information and communication 
The savings bank’s goals and objectives for information and communication are based on 
openness and accessibility. In order to ensure the necessary information flow, financial 
information must be published in line with the fixed financial calendar on the savings bank’s 
website through the submission of information to the Oslo Stock Exchange and via 
presentations to investors and other stakeholders. The savings bank arranges open investor 
presentations in conjunction with the presentation of annual and quarterly results. The 
presentations given in connection with the annual and quarterly results are made available 
on the savings bank’s website. The rules regarding information and communication, rules for 
good stock market ethics, and general requirement regarding equal treatment, do not 
restrict the savings bank’s opportunities regarding the provision of information, including to 
analysts.  
 
Sparebanken Øst has drawn up investor relations guidelines. These guidelines show how the 
savings bank wishes to maintain extensive and effective communication with the financial 
markets, with an emphasis on openness and credibility. The savings bank wishes to have 
long-term, mutually beneficial relations with as many brokerages as possible. Investment 
decisions must be based on financial calculations rather than relations. The savings bank 
must take a positive approach to investment decisions that have no significant impact on 
current profitability estimates, and which would be favourable for investors. The Finance 
department manages contact with brokers in order to ensure the consistency of the 
information that is issued and received.  
 
Information which is deemed to be of an important and sensitive nature is first sent to the 
Oslo Stock Exchange. The savings bank will endeavour to provide correct and balanced 
verbal and written information, and no investors shall receive preferential treatment. All 
provided information must be distributed to all investors and must be presented in a 
uniform manner. The savings bank must seek to be available to investors and enquiries must 
be answered without unreasonable delay. Information deemed to be crucial for investors 
must be distributed via the savings bank’s website, the Oslo Stock Exchange and mailing lists. 
 
Takeover 
Savings banks may not be taken over by other enterprises or individuals. For this reason, the 
NUES recommendations relating to this area are not relevant to savings banks. The Board of 
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Trustees will make decisions in all matters concerning changes to the savings bank’s business 
activities, the acquisition of other companies, or other cases of particular importance to the 
savings bank. However, this does not apply to the acquisition of small companies within the 
savings bank’s current area of activity, or if, for other special reasons, the matter should be 
decided upon by the Board of Directors and only thereafter presented to the Board of 
Trustees. 
 
Auditor 
Auditing at Sparebanken Øst is undertaken in accordance with acknowledged auditing 
principles, with due consideration to planning, implementation, and reporting. Ernst & 
Young AS is the savings bank’s external auditor. At least once a year, the external auditor 
attends a meeting of the audit committee as well as Board meetings, and reviews its 
assessments of the savings bank’s risks. The external auditor always attends the Board 
meeting at which the annual financial statements are adopted, as well as the accounts 
meeting of the audit committee, and reviews its assessment of significant conditions within 
the savings bank. The external auditor also attends other Board meetings if necessary. At 
least once a year, the external auditor holds a meeting with the Board of Directors without 
the CEO being present. In accordance with Section 8-6(3) of the Financial Institutions Act, 
from 01.01.2016 it is a requirement that the Board of Directors holds a meeting with the 
auditor without the general management being present at least once per quarter. The 
external auditor is invited to all meetings of the Board of Trustees. In connection with the 
remuneration to the auditor, including the division of the remuneration, reference is also 
made to Note 34 to the annual financial statements.  
 
 
2016 financial calendar 
Publication of quarterly results 

Meeting of the Board of Trustees 05 January 2016 
Preliminary results 2015 (Q4 2015) 10 February 2016 
Annual financial statements 2015 31 March 2016 
Ex. Dividend date 01 April 2016 
Payment of dividend 12 April 2016 
Q1 2016 11 May 2016 
Q2 2016 14 July 2016 
Q3 2016 02 November 2016 

 
 
 
Investor contacts 
 
CEO Pål Strand   Deputy CEO Kjell Engen Sparebanken Øst  
+47 9162 4428   +47 9577 5003   Tel.: 03220 
paal.strand@oest.no  kjell.engen@oest.no  PO Box 67, 3301 Hokksund 

www.oest.no 
firmapost@oest.no  



 
 
Statement pursuant to section 5-5 of the Securities 
Trading Act 

 
 
 
 

    

                                                           
Jorund Rønning Indrelid  
Chair 

Knut Smedsrud  
Vice Chair                                               

Morten André Yttreeide 
Board member 

 
Øivind Andersson 
Board member 

 
Sverre Nedberg 
Board member 

 
Elly Therese Thoresen 
Board member 

 
 

 
Hanne Margrete Lenes Solem 
Board member 

 
 

 
Inger Helen Pettersen 
Employee representative 

 
 

 
Pål Strand 
CEO 
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STATEMENT OF INCOME 

Group Group Parent bankParent bank

2015 2014 (Amounts in NOK millions) Notes 2015 2014

1.167,0 1.350,4 Interest income and similar income 25, 26 790,9 951,5

580,3 743,5 Interest costs and similar costs 25, 26, 53 447,3 588,2
586,7 606,9 NET INTEREST AND CREDIT COMMISSION INCOME 343,6 363,3

1,3 7,3 Dividends and other operating income from securities with variable yields 27 91,3 67,3
79,8 81,6 Commission income and income from banking services 28 89,7 92,1
39,2 43,7 Commission costs and costs from banking services 28 17,6 18,3

-42,7 160,2 Net value change  and gains/losses on financial instruments 29 -46,3 160,2

61,0 40,5 Other operating income 30 4,7 5,8
166,8 161,9 Payroll etc. 31, 50 139,8 136,1
51,7 55,6 Administration costs 44,6 47,2
17,9 19,8 Depreciation/write-downs and value change for non-financial assets 39 10,9 8,8
52,7 58,8 Other operating costs 33, 34, 40 43,4 50,2

357,8 556,7 PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE LOSSES 226,7 428,1

18,1 23,6 Losses on loans and guarantees 11, 13, 16 7,3 10,6
339,7 533,1 PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX COSTS 219,4 417,5

83,7 104,4 Tax costs 35 37,3 56,9
256,0 428,7 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 182,1 360,6

4,79 8,57 Earnings per equity certificate 55 3,41 7,21
4,79 8,57 Diluted earnings per equity certificate 55 3,41 7,21

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group Group Parent bankParent bank

2015 2014 (Amounts in NOK millions) Notes 2015 2014

256,0 428,7 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 182,1 360,6

Items that will not be reclassified to the statement of income
29,8 -45,9 Actuarial gains and losses on defined-benefit plans 50 27,4 -42,0
-7,4 12,3 Tax related to items that cannot be reclassified 35, 50 -6,8 11,3

Items that may later be reclassified to the statement of income
18,2 -90,2 Changes in fair value of investments available for sale 29 18,2 -90,2
-0,1 0,0 Tax related to items that cannot be reclassified 29 -0,1 0,0

296,5 304,9 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 220,8 239,7



Group Group Parent bank Parent bank
31.12.15 31.12.14 (Amounts in NOK millions) Notes 31.12.15 31.12.14

ASSETS
378,0 481,5 Cash and receivables from central banks 378,0 481,5

8,1 7,5 Loans to and receivables from financial institutions 15, 16, 20 2.101,3 2.337,2

27.975,8 28.697,8 Loans to and receivables from customers 0, 11, 12, 13, 14, 20 17.717,9 18.986,3

4.554,6 3.904,0 Certificates, bonds, etc. at fair value 20, 23, 36 4.554,6 3.904,0

478,1 457,5 Stocks and units 20, 23, 37 478,1 457,5

494,7 604,1 Financial derivatives 20, 21, 22, 23 282,5 352,7

205,6 205,8 Certificates and bonds, held to maturity 20, 23, 36 205,6 205,8

0,0 0,0 Ownership interests in group companies 38 887,5 887,3

0,0 0,0 Deferred tax asset 35 15,0 11,1

249,8 395,8 Investment properties 39 0,0 0,0

131,6 134,5 Property, plant and equipment 39 77,8 80,5

25,3 108,9 Other assets 41 4,0 10,0

7,5 8,7 Prepaid non-accrued costs and earned but not received income 42 8,0 9,1

34.509,1 35.006,1 TOTAL ASSETS 26.710,3 27.723,0

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
150,3 210,5 Liabilities to financial institutions 20, 43, 47 424,8 469,6

13.159,3 13.397,0 Deposits from and liabilities to customers 20, 44 13.179,5 13.420,0

68,4 56,8 Financial derivatives 20, 21, 22, 23 68,4 56,8

17.205,3 17.549,9 Securities issued 20, 45, 47 9.557,4 10.375,7

98,4 105,5 Tax payable 35 51,4 57,1

68,6 74,8 Other liabilities 48 52,4 51,4

34,9 34,7 Accruals and deferred income 28,9 29,5

59,7 87,6 Provisions for accrued costs and liabilities 49, 50 57,6 82,5

10,2 20,5 Deferred tax liability 35 0,0 0,0

702,9 703,1 Subordinated loan capital 20, 46 ,47 702,9 703,1

31.558,0 32.240,4 TOTAL LIABILITIES 24.123,3 25.245,7
595,1 595,1 Paid-up equity 55 595,1 595,1

2.356,0 2.170,6 Retained earnings 1.991,9 1.882,2

2.951,1 2.765,7 TOTAL EQUITY 6 2.587,0 2.477,3

34.509,1 35.006,1 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 26.710,3 27.723,0

                                                  Hokksund, 31 December 2015
                                                       Drammen, 10 March 2016



(Amounts in NOK millions)

Available
Total Equity ShareEqualisation Primary Gift for sale Other

2015 equity certificatesmium reserve fund capital fund reserve equity

Equity as at 31.12.14 2.765,7 207,3 387,8 366,3 1.308,0 45,5 162,4 288,4
Profit for the year 256,0 0,0 0,0 70,6 111,5 0,0 0,0 73,9
Changes in fair value of investments in JV/AC 18,1 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 18,1 0,0
Actuarial gains and losses on defined-benefit plans 22,4 0,0 0,0 8,0 12,6 0,0 0,0 1,8
Other comprehensive income 296,5 0,0 0,0 78,6 124,1 0,0 18,1 75,7
2014 dividend finally adopted -103,7 0,0 0,0 -103,7 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0
Changes in endowment fund -7,4 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -7,4 0,0 0,0
Equity as at 31.12.15 2.951,1 207,3 387,8 341,2 1.432,1 38,1 180,5 364,1

The year's proposed dividend of NOK 68.4 million remains part of the Equalisation Fund and the year's proposed dividend on 
social capital of NOK 34.2 million remains part of the primary capital until they are finally adopted by the board of trustees. 

See also Note 55 - Equity Certificates.

 Available
Total Equity ShareEqualisation Primary Gift for sale Other

2014 equity certificatesmium reserve fund capital fund reserve equity

Equity as at 31.12.13 2.527,9 207,3 387,8 291,7 1.129,9 35,5 252,6 223,1
Profit for the year 428,7 0,0 0,0 149,5 196,1 15,0 0,0 68,1
Changes in fair value of investments in JV/AC -90,2 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -90,2 0,0
Actuarial gains and losses on defined-benefit plans -33,6 0,0 0,0 -12,7 -18,0 0,0 0,0 -2,9
Other comprehensive income 304,9 0,0 0,0 136,8 178,1 15,0 -90,2 65,2
2013 dividend finally adopted -62,2 0,0 0,0 -62,2 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0
Changes in endowment fund -5,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -5,0 0,0 0,0
Equity as at 31.12.14 2.765,7 207,3 387,8 366,3 1.308,0 45,5 162,4 288,4

The year's proposed dividend of NOK 103.7 million remained part of the Equalisation Fund until it was finally adopted by the board of trustees. 

Available
Total Equity ShareEqualisation Primary Gift for sale

2015 equity certificatesmium reserve fund capital fund reserve

Equity as at 31.12.14 2.477,3 207,3 387,8 366,3 1.308,0 45,5 162,4
Profit for the year 182,1 0,0 0,0 70,6 111,5 0,0 0,0
Changes in fair value of investments in JV/AC 18,1 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 18,1
Actuarial gains and losses on defined-benefit plans 20,6 0,0 0,0 8,0 12,6 0,0 0,0
Other comprehensive income 220,8 0,0 0,0 78,6 124,1 0,0 18,1
2014 dividend finally adopted -103,7 0,0 0,0 -103,7 0,0 0,0 0,0
Changes in endowment fund -7,4 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -7,4 0,0
Equity as at 31.12.15 2.587,0 207,3 387,8 341,2 1.432,1 38,1 180,5

The year's proposed dividend of NOK 68.4 million remains part of the Equalisation Fund and the year's proposed dividend on 
social capital of NOK 34.2 million remains part of the primary capital until they are finally adopted by the board of trustees. 

See also Note 55 - Equity Certificates.

Available
Total Equity ShareEqualisation Primary Gift for sale

2014 equity certificatesmium reserve fund capital fund reserve

Equity as at 31.12.13 2.304,8 207,3 387,8 291,7 1.129,9 35,5 252,6
Profit for the year 360,6 0,0 0,0 149,5 196,1 15,0 0,0
Changes in fair value of investments in JV/AC -90,2 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -90,2
Actuarial gains and losses on defined-benefit plans -30,7 0,0 0,0 -12,7 -18,0 0,0 0,0
Other comprehensive income 239,7 0,0 0,0 136,8 178,1 15,0 -90,2
2013 dividend finally adopted -62,2 0,0 0,0 -62,2 0,0 0,0 0,0
Changes in endowment fund -5,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 0,0 -5,0 0,0
Equity as at 31.12.14 2.477,3 207,3 387,8 366,3 1.308,0 45,5 162,4

The year's proposed dividend of NOK 103.7 million remained part of the Equalisation Fund until it was finally adopted by the board of trustees. 

Paid-up equity                 Retained earnings

Paid-up equity

Paid-up equity

                Retained earnings

                Retained earnings

Paid-up equity                 Retained earnings
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Group Group Parent bank Parent bank
2015 2014 (Amounts in NOK millions) Note 2015 2014

Operating activities
339,7 533,1 Profit before tax 219,4 417,5

Adjusted for:
3,3 9,2 Change in net interest income earned and accrued interest costs 2,8 6,2
0,0 0,0 Net payment/disbursement of loans to financial institutions 236,5 -236,3

713,3 -2.924,4 Net disbursement of loans to customers 1.261,3 -1.985,0
-650,3 -587,3 Change in certificates and bonds at fair value -650,3 -345,6

98,4 -41,2 Change in other operating assets 54 20,7 31,2
0,0 0,0 Net payment/disbursement of deposits with financial institutions 15,4 43,5

-236,1 851,3 Net payment/disbursement of deposits from customers -238,9 861,4
-11,5 20,7 Change in other operating liabilities -1,4 18,5

4,5 18,4 Non-cash items included in profit before tax 54 -2,3 1,8
-35,2 -147,0 Net gains from investing activities -0,2 -147,0

4,0 8,1 Net losses from financing activities 2,2 8,1
-105,1 -101,1 Taxes paid for the period -57,0 -53,3
125,0 -2.360,2 Net cash flow from operating activities A 808,2 -1.379,0

Investing activities
-87,8 -20,6 Payment on purchase of fixed assets -8,5 -16,5
250,4 0,3 Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 0,4 0,0

1,1 256,6 Net proceeds/costs on the sale/purchase of financial investments 1,1 256,6
0,0 0,0 Net payment/disbursement concerning investments in subsidiaries -0,2 -200,1

163,7 236,3 Net cash flow from investing activities B -7,2 40,0

Financing activities
-60,0 -562,1 Net incoming/outgoing payments for loans to/from financial institutions -60,0 -562,1

-3.036,6 -2.265,5 Payments on repayment of securities -2.250,7 -1.750,3
2.808,7 5.136,6 Proceeds on issuance of securities 1.510,5 3.836,5

0,0 0,0 Proceeds on issuance of equity certificates 0,0 0,0
-103,7 -62,2 Payment of dividend -103,7 -62,2
-391,6 2.246,8 Net cash flow from financing activities C -903,9 1.461,9

-102,9 122,9 Net change in cash and cash equivalents A+B+C -102,9 122,9
489,0 366,1 Cash and cash equivalents as at 01.01. 489,0 366,1
386,1 489,0 Reserves of cash and cash equivalents as at 31.12. 54 386,1 489,0

Liquidity reserves include cash and deposits with central banks and loans to and deposits with financial institutions which are investment placements.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION   
 

NOTE 2 - ACCOUNTING POLICIES 





Measurement at fair value 

Measurement at amortised cost  

Write-down of financial assets  



Non-performing and impaired commitments 

Individual write-downs of loans and guarantees 

Collective write-downs of loans 

Declaring losses 

Fair value through profit or loss 



Hold to maturity 

Held for trading 

Available for sale 





Defined-benefit schemes



Defined-contribution schemes 





NOTE 3 - ASSESSMENTS AND USE OF ESTIMATES 



NOTE 4 - OPERATIONAL SEGMENTS 



NOTE 5 - RISK MANAGEMENT IN SPAREBANKEN ØST 







NOTE 6 - CAPITAL ADEQUACY   



NOTE 7 - CREDIT RISK 





NOTE 8 – CREDIT QUALITY BY CLASS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 



NOTE 9 - AGE DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS MATURED BUT NOT WRITTEN DOWN 



NOTE 10 - CREDIT RISK BY RISK CLASS 







NOTE 11 - DISTRIBUTION OF LOANS AND GUARANTEES FOR CUSTOMERS BY SECTOR, 
INDUSTRY AND GEOGRAPHY 





NOTE 12 LOANS TO AND RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS 

NOTE 13 - LOSSES ON LOANS AND GUARANTEES, CUSTOMERS 







NOTE 14 - LOANS AND RECEIVABLES FROM CUSTOMERS RELATED TO FINANCIAL 
LEASES 

NOTE 15 LOANS TO AND RECEIVABLES FROM FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS  



NOTE 16 - LOSSES ON LOANS AND GUARANTEES, FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 



NOTE 17 – INTEREST RATE RISK 









NOTE 18 – LIQUIDITY RISK 















NOTE 19 – CURRENCY RISK 

NOTE 20 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 





NOTE 21 - FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES 

Guarantee to Eksportfinans ASA 





 
NOTE 22 - NETTING RIGHTS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Group 
As at 31.12.15, the exposure was as follows: 

 
 

Gross amount 

 
 

Offset Book value 
amount 

Amount 
subject to net 

settlement 

Amount 
following 

any 
net 



settlement 
      
Financial derivatives, assets 212.2 0.0 212.2 0.0 212.2 
Financial derivatives, liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Group 
As at 31.12.14, the exposure was as follows: 

 
 

Gross amount 

 
 

Offset 
Book value 

amount 

Amount 
subject to net 

settlement 

Amount 
following 

any 
net 

settlement 
      
Financial derivatives, assets 251.4 0.0 251.4 0.0 251.4 
Financial derivatives, liabilities 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

NOTE 23 - FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

General information 

Cash and receivables from central banks 

Net loans  

Certificates and bonds 

Stocks and units 



Derivatives 

Liabilities to financial institutions 

Customer deposits 

Securities issued 







NOTE 24 - MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 





NOTE 25 - ACCOUNT WITH GROUP COMPANIES 



NOTE 26 - NET INTEREST AND CREDIT COMMISSION INCOME  



NOTE 27 - DIVIDENDS AND OTHER INCOME FROM SECURITIES WITH VARIABLE YIELDS 

NOTE 28 - NET COMMISSION INCOME 

NOTE 29 - NET VALUE CHANGE AND GAINS/LOSSES FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 



NOTE 30 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME 



NOTE 31 - SALARIES AND OTHER REMUNERATION 







NOTE 32 - CLOSE ASSOCIATES 



NOTE 33 - OTHER OPERATING COSTS 

 

NOTE 34 - AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION  

NOTE 35 - TAXES 



NOTE 36 - CERTIFICATES AND BONDS 







NOTE 37 - SHARES AND EQUITY CERTIFICATES  

NOTE 38 - OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN GROUP COMPANIES 

NOTE 39 - FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 





NOTE 40 - OPERATING LEASES 

NOTE 41 - OTHER ASSETS 

NOTE 42 - PREPAID NON-ACCRUED COSTS AND EARNED BUT NOT RECEIVED INCOME 



NOTE 43 - LIABILITIES TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

NOTE 44 - DEPOSITS FROM AND LIABILITIES TO CUSTOMERS 



 NOTE 45 - SECURITIES ISSUED 

NOTE 46 - SUBORDINATED LOAN CAPITAL 

NOTE 47 - LONG-TERM BORROWING BY MATURITY 





NOTE 48 - OTHER LIABILITIES 

NOTE 49 – ALLOCATIONS FOR COSTS AND COMMITMENTS INCURRED 



NOTE 50 – PENSION LIABILITIES 



Remaining qualification period  

Actuarial assumptions  

Qualification  

Risk assessment   







NOTE 51 - GUARANTEE LIABILITIES 



NOTE 52 - PLEDGES AND RIGHTS 

NOTE 53 - COSTS RELATED TO THE NORWEGIAN BANKS GUARANTEE FUND 

NOTE 54 - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CASH FLOW STATEMENT 



NOTE 55 - EQUITY CERTIFICATES 







NOTE 56 - ELECTED REPRESENTATIVES 









ANNUAL REPORT FROM THE CONTROL COMMITTEE 
FOR 2015

Sparebanken Øst's control committee has inspected and supervised the bank's activities and 
ensured that the activities are run in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Activities 
Act, Savings Banks Act, the bank's articles of association, the board of trustees' decisions and 
other decisions with which the bank has a duty to comply. 

The control committee has reviewed the board of directors' minutes and otherwise conducted 
the investigations required by the law and the committee's instructions. The control committee 
has reviewed the board of directors' report, statement of income and balance sheet without 
this giving rise to any remarks, and has therefore found the board of directors' assessment of 
the group's financial position to be satisfactory. 

All of the documents and information that the committee believes have been necessary to perform its work have 
been submitted to the control committee.  

The cooperation with the bank's board of directors, executive management team and audit has 
been very good. 

With reference to the auditor's report, the control committee recommends that the statement of 
income and balance sheet, as well as the consolidated financial statements, be adopted as the 
bank and group's annual financial statements for 2015. 

Drammen, 10 March 2016   

Eli Kristin Nordsiden                                                                Randi H. Sandli             

                                                                                                

Oddmar Nilsen    Sjur Kortgaard       


